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Corporate Profile
NFEIT

Qur Vision,
Mission &

Valves
I A=
En HEEE

VISION =

To be the pioneer of innovative living space

WERTE AIEER=ER

RS AR S e

MISSION {E4n

We strive to create a healthy, stylish and distinctive living
experience through teamwork and passionate pursuit of
innovation and excellence

BRBEN  AIFRL FEAR  BEAN B

VALUES BEH
— PRI’DE

Pioneer
Break new grounds

HEBR HH 3T

Integrity
Uphold high ethical standards
B

Respect
Value the individual and
cherish our environment

BABL

Devotion
Be committed and passionate

CUNCRIE
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Innovation
Think outside the box
TRRA 78]

Excellence
Consistency in the pursuit of
our quality standards

EREE



HKR International Limited ("HKRI" or the “Company”) is a conglomerate in
Hong Kong, together with its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), with
interests in diversified businesses, focusing on real estate development
and investment, property management, luxury hotels and other
investments in Hong Kong, mainland China and across Asia.

HKRI's comprehensive portfolio includes Discovery Bay and CDW
Building in Hong Kong; HKRI Taikoo Hui in Shanghai, and a number of
premium residential properties under development in Shanghai, Jiaxing
and Hangzhou. We aim at further growing a balanced portfolio to
maximise the Company’s value for shareholders.

At HKRI, we strive to create a healthy, stylish and distinctive living
experience through teamwork and an unwavering commitment to
innovation and excellence. We believe sustainability is one of the most
important ways to make a business and community viable. Guided by
our core values, we are devoted to making a positive contribution to the
communities, promoting sustainable development and creating a better
living environment.

BREAXBEREEARAR([EEREBEEK]
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Highlights of the Year
FEARERE

APR 9 A 2022 AUG J\ H 2022

} Signed the first sustainability-linked loan of HK$2.4
billion, manifesting the Group’s commitment to
long-term sustainability
EEHRANFEERARBBNE
BERBELAREL RESEYHRHA
FEERMAS

MAY f A 2022

} Celebration of CDW Building's 40™ anniversary
R RKEEKAGBEEFE

) First batch of VILLA LUCCA units was launched for
sale by tender

WL EHEMRIGHERRE

} The office tower of Jinsha INCITY, a commercial
project in Hangzhou, was renamed as HKR
International Centre
MNTEXBEE @D DNRIMOPRERE R

} Name unveil of VILLA LUCCA, the world-class low- BRERBERH L
density sea view residence in Tai Po, and obtained
occupation permit
7 7 K 38 1Y B PR AR R 2 508 = B IF =
a8 A T ARE I - I ERAS A KR
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SEP 11 A 2022

} Kick-started the celebration of HKRI's 45®

anniversary under the theme “Together We Fortify” } Certificate of consent for VILLA LUCCA was issued
BEBEERBSRERE  BRANUIRL and handover of units to purchasers commenced,
X 3K Together We Fortify | 4 == 8 #) )& B) and second batch of units was launched for sale by

tender in the same month
MEBILRERRER FAHEINTTER
RARAE _HGBEEREE

OCT + A 2022

} Refurbishment of Discovery Bay Pier commenced,
providing a better and more comfortable
experience for our passengers upon completion
MREBEBMFT IEH T FTIEER
FETREEEMELTFENER

} All launched units of Starlight One, Jiaxing,

FEB — H 2023 representing over 94% of total units, were sold out
on the launch day
} Entered into agreement to divest the remaining 7 A S BT 2 3% [ 4B 4B 049 HE & B A7 AT &
interest in a land located on Wireless Road, % K B
Bangkok, Thailand for an attractive return
AT 37 1 7 i %5 (30 3% [ £ 45 Wireless Road ) } Won the bid for a premium residential land lot in

i - AT R B O 3R

Nanhu New District, Jiaxing

RO GEEETEAREEEEHR
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Awards and Recognition S

BIE B e

Significant awards won by the Group
in the Financial Year 2022/2023:
EER2022203 B FEEGEH £ E 815

|
e

HKR International Limited GOOD MPF EMPLOYER 5 YEARS+, MPF SUPPORT  Tha pRIDE Creative Camp3.0 Integrated Marketing [l et (s Lr RLC L L L R AL
BEREXEREEERL T AWARD ANDE-CONTRIBUTIONAWARD 'S = [ [PRIDE BIiEE | BA1TH Limited
BEeRELSE+ BOBER STHEE BB RS A T
"15 YEARS PLUS CAR|N9COMPANY” LOGO Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority MAWARDS 2022
15EPLUS[ B R E BRI E BHENELHEEER 22T RIF R BEST SECURITY PERSONNEL AWARDS 2021-22
The Hong Kong Council of Social Service - IP Marketing Innovation Award - Bronze Award  2021-2F BB R L EBE
TP AE ST ERB MANPOWER DEVELOPER AWARD SCHEME PEHEIFE B  Best Partnership Awards
ERBA T ¥ E 3T 3 meihuainfo BRI RRAEN LS
HONG KONG ESG REPORTING AWARDS 2022~ Grand Prize Award (Manpower Developer) 1748 NTS Regional Crime Prevention Office
WNERRE REREAREAR AT RE—LERR FREAEHIRERAS
- Best ESG Report (Small Cap) Grand Award Employees Retraining Board Hong Kong Resort Company Limited
BHESCHE (M HfE) A% EEBEIR BEREXARAR GOOD CITIZEN AWARD 2022
Hong Kong ESG Reporting Awards Limited WnFTRER
&) ‘?%g ESG gﬁi ERER ’Rg = HIGHEST PARTICIPATION RATE AWARD COMMUNITY PARTNER COMMENDATION AWARD. Good Org;;isation Award
(COMPANIES AND ORGANIZATIONS CATEGORY) 2022 N FHEE
ESG ACHIEVEMENT AWARDS 2021/2022 EBSRER(BERERER) WABRFFHR Hong Kong Police Force
0212008 E HERLLEEAAAE  Community Chest Dress Casual Day 2021 OWA . ERLEKE
- Outstanding ESG Performer of the Year W1 RERERAB B SR
- Diamond Award VILLALUCCA
EEBEOE AR CORPORATE BRAND AWARDS OF EXCELLENCE 2022 AWARD FOR CHARITY SUPPORT 2022 ML
Institute of ESG and Benchmark WRERBRBS AR 2022%?&[1}}{%‘5{7?5%@ : !
BEHOLOLEAELES - Sustainable Property Development Award Lhe Nelghbgurhood Advice-Action Council  The Asia Pacific Property Awards
B THENERRAR LR TARBEAR
UNSDG ACHIEVEMENT AWARDS HONG KONG 2022 Hong Kong Economic Journal . X w - Residential Development Hong Kong
MBAETREIRAEEAARE  REMEHE Discovery Bay Saricsanagement imited et
- Recognised Organisation T — WREREEERRAR - Architecture Multiple Residence Hong Kong
LEDL L Eyraatphyn j?ig = HKQAA RECOGNITION PROGRAM FOR ERSEERRE
Green Council 202; &= ”i“x" ”E * Mxk E— ORGANISATIONS 2022 International Property Awards
= e - Excellence in Best Marketability Awar [P N :
ERERE BEME L EHAR ANEERERERRAENHY ARFERENR
REEHENSHAR = Gold Seal for Business Reslience & C. "
SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS AWARD 2021 Hong Kong Designers Association Cgmrigati;: usiessestience &omMUNY  HonE JOURNAL AWARDS 2022
WEETHERRAR BRXAIHE CUEMESAR(BEENLE) WNEFREAE
World Green Organisation T — Hong Kc;r;ngJ;th ;;sug ncé‘Age‘rgcﬂy - Best Luxury Low Density Residences
HREEHAE nthe RISE - From Dazhonglito HKRI Taikoo Hui £ O AR /o S REEZERT
(RLAE-EAPREBEALE) EERERER Home Journal
GREEN OFFICE AND ECO-HEALTHY AWARDS EHRE
LABELLING SCHEME AWARD FOR INNOVATION IN PUBLIC ENTERPRISE  CLP SMART ENERGY AWARD 2022
BORLTREHY PUBLICATIONS (GOLD AWARD) WRFEAFFREXAL )
- Green Office Label and Eco-Healthy Workplace Label ?h#\ :’-%P& EEE”STE i@ F”%ig)d - J;iflt ED?L gj)/(aiVing Award =
[ZeRAZIRIBEIEBIEE € ulerraciic Jlevie Avards HUERAR
World Green Organisation o TM-RFERBRK CLP Power GOLFERS' CHOICE AWARDS 2022
18 4240 5 W EFBRARAE
tRReEs CORPORATE PUBLICATIONS (BRONZE) TEEN = Choice Gof propeﬁy
ECO-BRAND AWARDS 2022 ERHRDRA (WR) HSBC LIVING BUSINESS AWARDS 2022 BEEEANE
WRERREAR PR Awar:ds/A\sw 202§ WREEERTD N LB E Golf Vacations, Senasia Publication Group Limited
East Week W22 HABAR - Certificate of Merit BRES ATHRERAF
RET . , e
“HKRI Love & Design” (SR Project : : : i
X Business Environment Council Starlight One
ENERGY SAVING CHARTER 2022 [REE | DRHERR HREEGS
WNEEAE
CULTURE SPACE SILVER AWARD
Electrical and Mechanical Services e e e HONG KONG AWARDS FORENVIRONMENTAL ~ OUTSTANDING PRODUCTIVITY PROJECT 2022
Department XL 2FRAR EXCELLENCE 2021 WFESHERNRE
BE - French GPDP International Design Award m o Jiaxing Daily, Nan Hu Evening News, Jiaxin
KETRE ; : WNERREEMAR g atly, g News, laxing
/REL S T GPDP AWARD - Property Management (Residential) Real Estate Market
UMBRELLA BAGS REDUCTION ACCREDITATION 6, ) AwARD _ Certificate of Merit REAR BHBR EmeE
PROGRAM 2022 # NEEE (f%)-BER
WRNEDER/RERBBRIBERELY - ian International Innovative Design Award  ENvironmental Campaign Committee VALUE?QI{E%ZR@%E%T&;HE DRTRCT 2021
- Diamond and Gold Levels and Reduction Award = B AIDAB I B 37 205 £ 58 BEEHESe W1BHE =
ERRLARE HEAE TR Jiasing Daly
Greeners Action GOLD AWARD BEST SECURITY PERSONNEL AWARDS 2021-22 REAH
Z\/ = g - R £ g | \§
88178 l%'f"*iz . . 202;;@3@ f‘?gjﬁaf di;‘ﬁar ) OUTSTANDING RESIDENTIAL PROJECT 2022
ternat i t t tive - &
CHARTER FOR AGE-FRENDLY SHOPPING MALLS o2 o7 e S A TIOMENE s e WFEABRARE
BEFENE esign Awar L”Tp(j ward) . S . Jiaxing Broadcast and Television Group, Tou
BB RN E N BRESAlf Rt R AE (288 - Residential (Merit Award) Ming Media
The Hong Kong Jockey Club Charities Trust FE-BEE "’ﬁﬂgi*ﬁ;% THEE. FREE
ERRRREELTES INTERIOR DESIGN BRONZE AWARD - Commercial (Outstanding Award) RADRR SRR .
VHZBEARER IH-#HE
IAI Design Award NTS Regional Crime Prevention Office

MRBEERHILERERE
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NEW COVER PROJECT OF JIAXING 2022

WNERFTHHE
Jiaxing Broadcast and Television Group

REMEAEREE

THE BENCHMARK QUALITY PROJECT 2022
WNFERARERTER
Jiaxing Nan Hu Real Estate Association

FETENERHEXTERS

INOne

QUALITY PROJECT 2022
WNEEREERE
Fang Xiaotuan

ENE

THE MOST INFLUENTIAL PROJECT OF HANGZHOU 2022
WRERMNETRER
- Excellent Property Project
SHELER
Hangzhou Housing Purchase Service Platform

mNER R

ANNUAL DOUBLE GOLD PROJECT 2022
WNEERTEEE

Metropolis Daily

#HoRE

EXCELLENT PROJECT 2022
WNFEXFNET
Hangzhou Daily

M B &

REAL ESTATE BRAND OF THE YEAR 2022
WEEEREEL
Qianjiang Evening News

BIBR

8%
8K

SHOPPING MALL AWARDS 2021-2022

W 2NEFEFHSAR

- Favourite Lifestyle Shopping Mall
AREENHLEES

U Magazine

HKRI Taikoo Hui
FERHE

LONG-TERM PUBLIC CHARITY AWARDS
NHEEERER

Shanghai United Foundation
TEBBARESS

GOLDEN LIGHT AWARDS 2023

WBERE

- Excellent Quality Award
FHRER

MCWzg.com

e

TOP BUSINESS VALUE AWARD - BRONZE 2022
WNEEREEXEER-HR

China Shopping-mall Value Board
coveeh Bl 5 B EE

TOP SHOPPING MALL OF THE YEAR 2022
WNFEERMES
Dianping.com

RREFT

MEMORIAL AWARD FOR THE FIRST JING'AN
TERRACE SEASON 2022
WNHZERFLLR

Shanghai Jing'an District Commission of
Commerce

LETHRERARZAE

BEST FASHION & LUXURY LANDMARK
FEHEE

Shanghai BANG

L+ EBANG

ANNUAL LIFESTYLE AWARDS 2023

WRFEHRA

- Trendy Luxury Landmark
EREHENE

GOGO Shanghai

BEST FASHION & LUXURY LANDMARK 2022
WNFERENE

BACAO Lifestyle Guides
WEEEER

TRENDY LUXURY LANDMARK 2023
WBFERENRE

Discovery Shanghai

BRI

QUALITY SHOPPING MALL 2022
WRFERERNHL
Shanghai CHAO Lifestyle
LR

BEST 50 LIFESTYLE DESTINATION 2022
2022 BB 4 EIEBESTS0

- Best Brand Crossover Mall
RiEMEERES
Shanghai WOW

34" PLACE FOR ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTION IN 2022
WNFEREERENE
Shanghai Jing'an District Government

LETEZEARRA

Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong
BEEMREEE

WEDDING AWARD 2022

WNEERFRE

- Superb Wedding Banquet (Hotel) - Best
Outdoor Wedding Ceremony Venue
ERBE(ERE) REFMEESH

Weddinghkhk

TOP PRODUCING HOTEL 2022
WRHEEENERE
Trip.com

BRRTA

BEST ENGAGEMENT AWARD 2022
WNFREAL

Expedia Group

BiEREH

MEITUAN HOTELS AWARDS 2022

WREEEERE

- Popular Resort Hotel of the Year
EEARERERE

Meituan

%8

The Sukhothai Shanghai
LERAFEE

READERS' CHOICE AWARD 2022

WNFEEZERR

- Top 10in China
FE T KEE

Condé Nast Traveler

ANNUAL TOP 10 HOTEL
FETAEE
City Life 2022
WREET - FWHATEESE

TRAVELERS' CHOICE
RiTECE
Tripadvisor

it

STAR AWARD - FOUR STAR AWARD
ERAR-MEXR
Forbes Travel Guide

R E kiR

BEST CITY HOTEL
BEST/IRER WiERE
KOL Gold List
KOLRfE h &

The Retreat

THE MOST ATTRACTIVE SPA TREATMENT OF THE YEAR
FEERSInKBEREEAR
SpaChina

Urban (afé

TOP 50 BEST THAI RESTAURANT
BEREERETOPS0
Shanghai WOW

The ZUK Bar

FOOD & DRINK AWARDS 2022

WNEERAR

- Top Hotel Bar of The Year
FEREERE

that's Shanghai

The SukhothaiBangkok

THAILAND TOURISM STANDARD:
ACCOMMODATION STANDARD FOR TOURISM
(HOTEL) 2021-2023

Department of Tourism

STAR AWARD - FOUR STAR AWARD
Forbes Travel Guide

ASEAN MICE VENUE STANDARD (AMVS)2021-2023
ASEAN National Tourism Organisations

ntermntiona

MR

Limited

TOP 500 HOTELS IN THE WORLD 2022
Travel + Leisure Publication

EXCELLENT LEVEL OF GREEN HOTEL
Department of Environmental Quality Promotion

EXPERTS' CHOICE AWARD 2022
Expert's Choice

CUSTOMER REVIEW AWARDS 2022
Agoda

READERS' CHOICE AWARDS 2022
- Top 10 Hotels in Thailand
DestinAsian Publication

THE 2022 EXCELLENT PRACTICES ESTABLISHMENT
ON LABOUR RELATIONS AND WELFARE NATIONAL
LEVEL

Ministry of Labour

MYSTERY INSPECTORS' EXCELLENCE AWARD 2023
Small Luxury Hotels of the World

Celadon

MICHELIN GUIDE BANGKOK 2022
Michelin Guide Thailand

LaScala

MICHELIN GUIDE BANGKOK 2022
Michelin Guide Thailand

Colonnade

RECOMMENDATION BADGE
Restaurant GURU

SpaBotanica

STAR AWARD - FOUR STAR AWARD
Forbes Travel Guide

LEADERS IN LUXURY AWARDS 2023
- Best Luxury Spa Hotel 2023 - Bangkok
LUXIife

Peony Chinese Restaurant
A EF R

THE TATLER AWARDS HONG KONG 2023
Tatler Hong Kong

BEST-EVER DINING AWARD 2022

RN RERE

- Cantonese Cuisine & Restaurant (Gold Award)
PZER REKRHFER

Weekend Weekly

R

Discovery Bay Recreation Club
MRERMS

NATURAL CHRISTMAS TREES RECYCLING
PROGRAMME
RAEERE W E
- Certificate of Appreciation

B
Environment and Ecology Bureau
REREER

FBIREREEAFRAR 20222023 £ Q7



Chairman’s Statement

EEWE

&€ | would like to thank our stakeholders
and the community for their ongoing
support over the past 45 years and
into the future. Together, we will
create a lifestyle that is better and

greener than ever. 7

[ BFZEIFHERTERER
RASFHIST - BRI
RIFEFRAE RN AIE
mREER FHRE < |

Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor
BERREE
Executive Chairman
WITER

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS AND STAKEHOLDERS,

It gives me great pleasure to present our annual report for the financial
year 2022/2023 (the “Current Year"). The report covers the results for HKR
International Limited ("HKRI" or the “Company”), as well as its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”).

ANNUAL RESULTS

The Group's revenue for the Current Year was HK$1,693.7 million, a
decrease of 59.4% against last year's HK$4,167.9 million. As a result, the
Group's underlying profit (excluding net unrealised losses on fair value
change of investment properties) of HK$495.6 million accordingly
declined by 48.4% from HK$960.4 million in the last year.

With the net unrealised losses on fair value change of investment
properties included, the profit attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to HK$455.6 million, decreased by 58.5% from HK$1,097.3
million in the last year. Basic earnings per share were HK30.7 cents for
the Current Year, compared to HK73.9 cents for the last year. As at 31
March 2023, the net asset value attributable to shareholders of the
Company stood at HK$24,397.9 million (HK$16.4 per share), as compared
with HK$25,026.9 million (HK$16.8 per share) in the preceding year.

08 HKR International Limited Annual Report 2022/2023
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The Board of Directors recommends a final dividend of HK1 cent per
share for the Current Year, which represents the total dividend payable
by the Company for the Current Year. A total dividend of HK8 cents per
share was paid to shareholders in last year.

FACING A CHALLENGING MARKET

COVID-19 has resulted in economic slowdown around the world over
the past three years. Stringent travel restrictions and social distancing
measures resulted in sharp contraction of social and economic activities
both domestically and internationally. Coupled with rising inflation,
climbing interest rates, and heightened geopolitical tensions across the
world, the long-lasting and widespread effects of the pandemic
presented businesses across industries with unprecedented challenges,
and it is expected that a full recovery to pre-pandemic level will take
considerably longer.

Hong Kong and mainland China, the Group's strategic dual geographical
focus markets, were not immune to this challenging business
environment. Economic growth in Hong Kong and the Mainland was
hampered by the pandemic’s resurgence in the spring and winter of
2022, respectively. The travel restrictions and social distancing measures
were only gradually relaxed in early 2023 when the pandemic receded.

To support the economy, the Hong Kong Government encouraged
convening a number of regional and international conferences, expos
and sports events, and implemented stimulus policies including a stamp
duty relief for first-time home buyers in the 2022 Policy Address. These
initiatives helped support the property demand, and market sentiment
gradually rebounded in the latter part of 2022 as a result. During the first
quarter of 2023, the reopening of borders and rebounding visitor arrivals
propelled Hong Kong's economy and its property and retail markets.
Hong Kong's GDP and employment rates also showed signs of modestly
recovering from a deep bottom.

Hong Kong's private home price index rose to 3514 in March 2023,
marking a three-month increment and setting a half-year high, according
to the Rating and Valuation Department. The market is beginning to
gradually absorb the abundant housing supply accumulated over the
three years of pandemic. Nonetheless, a recovery of the property market
in the remainder of 2023 depends on the restoration of market
sentiment to pre-pandemic level.

In the Mainland, economic activity was seriously interrupted by the
pandemic over most of 2022, and the real estate sector was hard-hit.

EFEeRRAFEESRARHERESBRUBM
HMFK TKiE&HkQZ@% il
—HMRFEE BRRERZKREAENSERS
Al -

WIS FERE TR

BE=ZF HEUBKBEERBHARZHE
o BRI IRER GBI M X REEEERE
ENEEHNUHENEEIDAREEZRE - K

FHRTEEEXNRMARZOTE &K
RIFTARBRBEE - i LmAR B - F 827 -

AEE2HMEBORREER BHFHER
RETRSEET2MEZRIBAIKT -

BRlEmBRRamksE  SEOMMEZLT
%—%%ﬂ$ﬂwmﬁT%ﬁﬁ AR EE
F20NFEFREEDHNEETENALETE
&%ﬁ’ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂg/ﬁi“ﬁ HE20BFVEBEA
ZOET R R B 3 BRI RN R RS R B E 5 IR BE 2

BEEWE -
E%ﬁ%w'%%ﬂﬁﬁﬁi% W% E i
BUMBREANER RERBARE I

F2NFHRBBREFE %yﬁﬂ%hm l
MBREREENIER HEPHIFEMS
Ko T RA IR A I 72 2022 4F 1 B T [B] BE o
F2BRFFE—ZFE - FARTEHAMBER
HBERBEARNEA BT EENLEE Y
¥NMTEMG EENANMEELBERRLE
EHWARRBFNIEF -

ﬁﬁ%%%%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ 0B3F3/HBE
ERAAFTEEEHREA A48 BEEE=
MHL% BlEF s o M5B EHRA
BE-ZFTREHEZENEEHE BE W
gt 2023 F A TR M ERB R
ARTIS RS S RIEZZIBAAKTE -

AR B A FE 2022 FF K BB
RSy HEAIET -

B S R R 18 E B
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Chairman’s Statement

ERW|E

Since late 2022, private home demand and supply have rebounded
modestly after having trended downwards. The upturn was propelled by
the gradual relaxation of pandemic-control measures, and the Central
Government's supportive policies, including the easing of purchase
restrictions, and its Three Arrows Policy, comprising adjustments to bank
lending as well as enhancement of real estate enterprise financing. New
home prices in 70 major cities increased month-on-month in January
2023, ending a five-month decline, and growth continued into February
and March 2023, according to National Bureau of Statistics data.
Encouragingly, housing transaction volume and transaction prices for
the cities where our businesses are located, also showed signs of
rebounding and the markets are relatively resilient.

PAVING THE WAY FOR LONG-TERM GROWTH

We celebrated the Group's 45™ anniversary in 2022. As we are moving
away from the impact of the pandemic and heading towards our next
milestones, the Group has already formulated plans that pave way for
our long-term business growth, and enhance our commitment to the
community and environment.

Hong Kong

In Hong Kong, the strategic DB 2.0 Roadmap shall transform our flagship
Discovery Bay ("DB") project. From providing new residential and leisure
offerings to creating a greener and more sustainable living experience
and uplifting our current infrastructure, the DB 2.0 Roadmap will cater to
the evolving preferences of residents and future homebuyers.

B20NFEB ZBEHEREBEERHNE  F
REFHEEFTRR BREREEEDER
Bl ARIRHI =& E R R — UAEET
BERMELCLEBED %ﬂﬁvhﬂ'ﬁﬁ%
AFEEHEERTITEY mﬂ@ﬂ
Eﬁl%m#%mﬁﬁﬁwmiﬂ

EXrEMme—FEEEBRIXRA LA

Tﬁﬁﬂm&%'ﬁ%ﬁiﬁﬂwﬂﬁ%%
E-REEEEMENBET MERIXER
RBEBHEHZ2HEHR - S AKEIEE-

REERBERHR

QNFIEFEEBAKNASEF - RS EH
BREBEHREE M T —RREa0 HEt
A SEIAEHET RIS AEERE
E¥BEREE BEORMEBLEMNIRED
R o

i

EEE REUENARE0/EBSREHE
MEEERREMSETREFNER  BBER

AV E MK B R ElJfEZf’@&—HiZ*
ERER RREFARBEER il o

ERERFKEXRHS \i‘EE}]ﬁlﬁ>< °
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Under the Master Plan 7.0E, which has been approved by the
government, we are advancing the development of a land plot on the
northern part of DB. The entire project will provide over 1,400 housing
units, where residents will enjoy proximity to extensive green spaces and
convenient mobility.

The Group is also planning to enhance the existing infrastructure to
deliver exceptional leisure experiences to the residential community. For
instance, the upcoming multi-recreation centre in DB (official name to
be announced) will provide various educational, leisure and sports
facilities, and the pier facilities will be upgraded.

We are also exploring additional property development opportunities,
and are applying to rezone Area 10b in DB, which upon approval will
further enhance our residential and community offerings.

During the Current Year, the Hong Kong Government brought in policies
providing additional land supply to meet rising housing and commercial
demand. One notable land supply development is the Kau Yi Chau
Artificial Islands initiative, which is scheduled to be completed by 2033.
Together with related new infrastructure, it is set to improve Lantau
Island’s connectivity with other parts of Hong Kong and the Greater Bay
Area.

Though the government’s proposal is still at the planning stage, we are
hoping to see the relaxation of building height limits and establishment
of a sea/rail transport network to connect Eastern Lantau to the Atrtificial
Islands and then further to Hong Kong Island. As a key stakeholder in
Lantau, we believe that this proposal is an excellent opportunity to
unlock the full potential of Lantau and contribute to the growth of Hong
Kong as a whole.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERW|E

Apart from DB, the Group has rolled out sales activities to capture the
opportunities presented by the resumption of normal economic activity.
VILLA LUCCA, the seaview luxury residence at Tai Po hillside, received
increasing numbers of viewers. The project enjoys close proximity to the
proposed Northern Metropolis. Interest from local and cross-border
buyers is expected to further increase as cross-border travel fully
resumes.

Mainland China

In the Mainland, we are progressing with development in the Yangtze
River Delta Area. Building on our solid presence in the region, the Group
continues to prudently replenish its land bank by reviewing land plots
with development potential as the pandemic recedes in the Mainland.
We have acquired a land plot in Jiaxing’s Nanhu New District in March
2023, our sixth investment in Jiaxing, which will be transformed into a
premium residential development. The project exemplifies the Group's
confidence in the Mainland’s long-term sustainable growth.

As the property market has been consolidating over the past few years,
owing to the pandemic and insolvency of some developers, the
residential market values project quality more than ever. The Group
adheres to its corporate value of “Creating a Lifestyle”, and continues to
inject craftsmanship into building high-quality housing, aiming to meet
home-buyer demand and support the healthy development of the
housing sector in the Mainland.

Turning to HKRI Taikoo Hui (“HTH") in Shanghai, we are enhancing its
merchant mix by embracing a spirit of breaking the status quo. Our goal
is to create unique experiences for our customers, who nowadays prefer
brands with distinct characters. Customers can expect “new surprises”

each time they visit HTH. This also aligns with our overall position as an
industry trend leader.
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Overseas
Over time, we aim to enhance capital appreciation and earnings
potential through our active asset management strategy, especially amid
current and future macroeconomic headwinds and increasing
uncertainty.

In February 2023, the Group profitably divested the Wireless Road land
plot in Bangkok. The divestment will help the Group to better focus on
its core businesses, while providing additional working capital to fund
strategic projects, thereby reinforcing the Group’s medium- and long-
term growth.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Despite the varied challenges posed by the pandemic, we continued to
advance the Group's mission of building a sustainable and green
community.

HKRI is steadfast in its commitment to improving sustainability,
governance and environmental impact — our ESG Committee, CSR Task
Force, and Risk Management Steering Group work closely with the Board
of Directors to oversee group-level practices. Demonstrating our
commitment to transparent climate-related disclosures, we took a
significant step forward during the Current Year by adopting the Task
Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”") framework.

Turning to operations, we are committed to the United Nations’
Sustainable Development Goals (“SDGs"). Our business units abided by
the Group's Environmental Policy and Climate Change Policy, which
enabled our teams to strategically move towards a sustainable future
across all regions and facets of our businesses.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Though the pandemic is receding and borders are re-opened, which
bode well for economic growth, there is cause for caution.

The COVID-19 pandemic inflicted structural damage on the global
economy and across industries, which will not be remedied in the short
term. Meanwhile, a full recovery to the pre-pandemic level is also
intertwined with global and regional macro-economic and geopolitical
vulnerabilities.

In addition, interest rate hikes are leading to higher financing costs, and
several currencies are depreciating, including the yuan, baht, and yen,
which increased the Group’s net exchange losses during the course of
our development and investment.

However, we remain cautiously optimistic on future economic growth.
The Group boasts strong fundamentals and balance sheet, and 45 years
of experience in responding to different market situations. Following the
spirit of our 45" anniversary theme “Together We Fortify”, HKRI remains
committed to our long-term business strategy to create a unique lifestyle
that is both aspirational and sustainable.

With our approach to ensuring balanced businesses, we will navigate
market volatility and achieve long-term growth. We will continue to
leverage diversified channels to replenish land bank and develop high-
quality homes, and reinforce our solid position in the hospitality sector,
while maintaining a disciplined approach to development and risk
management.
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To pave the way for medium- to long-term development, we will stay
vigilant to emerging challenges, while progressing with sustainable
development across our business units, fuelling future growth when
opportunities arise.

APPRECIATION

I'would like to take this opportunity to extend my sincere gratitude to
the Board of Directors for their guidance and wise counsel, which helped
us to sail through macroeconomic uncertainty. | am also deeply grateful
for our full team of staff across the regions, including the frontline and
senior management team, for their commitment and resilience in
achieving a number of milestones while overcoming varied challenges
amid the pandemic. Lastly, | would like to thank our stakeholders and the
community for their ongoing support over the past 45 years and into the
future. Together, we will create a lifestyle that is better and greener than
ever.

Vet

Victor CHA
Executive Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 June 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN WD

HKRI is a conglomerate whose core business is property development
and investment. The Group's strategy is to increase its asset value by the
continued development and enhancement of its flagship projects,
including DB and HTH, acquisition of land plots or projects of varying
scale for development/re-development, and enhancement of the
Group's other investment properties’ value. The Group will continue to
look for opportunities to expand its property portfolio.

LAND BANK

As of 31 March 2023, total land bank (including those held directly by
joint ventures) attributable to the Group amounted to 8,435,000 square
feet, which is earmarked for property development upon fulfilment of
the related terms and conditions. During the Current Year, the Group
acquired 1,415,000 square feet of developable gross floor area ("GFA”).

ERHEXBEBRIELEYERRIRER
B EENROKBERAEEBE X3
B=AEBREINNLER BRFEERLE
EEEBERB(BEERSERBEENLHE)
WREARAENRKNBRETER/E2
AEBETEMREYRIEE - KRBT
Mewes BREXEYEES -

+ it

MR2023F3A31H SEEML T HEEREE
B ET8435000 F TR (BIERAERRIFARN
Ti) HEOTHEHBEERERE %%
MEBIEMEZE - SERAFE D WE
1,415,000 75 IR ] 22 48 #E T [ 15 ©

Property Development And Investment

VWERERKREXRE

The Group's revenue from property development and investment
for the Current Year, including the proportionate share of joint
ventures and associates of HK$973 million (2022: HKS$1,061 million),
was HKS$1,833 million, down from HKS$4,525 million in preceding
year.

The contribution from property development and investment,
including the proportionate share of joint ventures and associates of
HKS251 million (2022: HK$286 million), was HK$819 million (2022:
HKS1,371 million).
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

Hong Kong

The COVID-19 pandemic’s fifth wave and stringent social-distancing
measures adversely impacted economic activity for most of 2022.
Property sales activities were interrupted and transaction price and
volume trended down. During the Current Year, volatile global economic
conditions, rising interest rates and a weakened stock market further
hindered market confidence and local demand. The property market has
only rebounded after Hong Kong re-opened its borders and removed
social-distancing measures in February 2023. Nonetheless, the uptick is
relatively shallow compared to the extent of the downturn over the
course of the pandemic. A full recovery to pre-pandemic levels will take
longer and will depend on the macro-economic situation. The Group
will remain cautious when implementing its strategies and paving the
way for its long-term sustainable development.

During the Current Year, planning and upgrade works continued to
progress at DB (in which the Group holds a 50% interest). The
investments exemplify the Group’s commitment to the community.
According to the strategic DB 2.0 Roadmap, apart from providing high-
quality housing units that align with the market's growing expectations,
DB's infrastructure and facilities will also be upgraded, providing a high-
quality living environment and sustainable homes for the residential
community. As part of this upgrade program, the Group is refurbishing
the piers’ facilities to enhance customers’ convenience and experience.

The planning for and development of a land plot in DB North continued
according to DB Master Plan 7.0E. The whole project provides over
1.3 million square feet GFA with over 1,400 residential units, located
around a green living environment featuring a 160,000 square feet
central park. Construction of the first phase (Phase 19) commenced in
February 2022. Stage 1 of foundation work was completed in February
2023 while stage 2 is targeted to complete by July 2023. Superstructure
work commenced in April 2023 and is expected to be completed by the
end of 2025.

The rezoning of staff quarters at DB Area 6f to residential use was
approved in principle by the Town Planning Board. Corresponding
revision of outline zoning plan and approval of master plan is being
processed by the relevant departments. Area 6f will provide about 500
residential units upon completion. The Group is now exploring the
feasibility of adopting Modular Integrated Construction ("MiC"), an
environmentally-friendly building method that maximises off-site
construction and reduces waste, for this project.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER R DT

The sustainability-inspired multi-recreation centre complex in DB (official
name to be announced) is advancing, and site work has commenced in
May 2023. The complex’s plan incorporates green architectural design
by utilising renewable energy and leveraging up-cycled materials for
construction. It will offer a range of educational, sports and leisure
facilities, and is set to establish another brand-new leisure hub in DB.

VILLA LUCCA (a 40:60 joint-venture with Hysan Development Company
Limited), a world-class luxury residential project with sea views in Tai Po,
has been attracting an increasing number of local and Mainland
prospective buyers, attributing to its proximity to the proposed Northern
Metropolis, and convenient access to the city centre and multiple land-
border crossings. Viewing volume for the project increased significantly
following the full resumption of normal travel arrangements between
Hong Kong and the Mainland. The certificate of compliance for the
project was issued in March 2023,

With regards to the residential redevelopment project at Hollywood
Road and Upper Lascar Row, the foundation work is in progress. The
project is expected to be completed by the end of 2025.

The Group's residential projects in Hong Kong as of 31 March 2023 are
summarised below:

Poggibonsi, DB 5= & Z 12

LA BEZREAESNMEEZHEEY
FOEREREE) CAEEEFR TEDR
203Fs AR -THEBMEAZRGEERT
BEBEPRBABAEREAALBEY
Be-THEBE —RINHME - EBMIKHE R
R—5 A= EERENIREEE-

EERGzE=EHENS UL RS ES &
KR BB @BH - AERETTH LR
ZERER A F - RS T RS A AN
BEER -EEAUEANMRERBER EA
RSB ASABEEL M HB B R2023F3 88
BEHNTXREFRES(RBIORBEALLD - B L
WAEBEFEEEFRAANLERERE &
1% £ 51 5 Bl & 40% K2 60% ©

R EENRERE LENEEERRBE
FETHETRE BHER205FERT -

HZE2023F3A3H SENEEEEEEMH
T

(50% owned) (1 50% 1 #= )
Total units 25 1 42 2: 196

Units sold E & & {2: 190
(2 sold during the Current Year/ 7K 4F & & & 2 @)

Sales proceeds generated during the Current Year:
HK$40.3 million
TEEHENRZE 403FEBT

Revenue of 2 sold units recognised during
the Current Year

FEEEEMNBRAEREIFEAIR
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IL PICCO, DB i =& Z g

(509% owned) (1 50% & 25 )

Total units 2 {7 #2 £{: 21 garden houses 21 & 1 B 3% &
Unitssold E &8 {z:7

(2 sold during the Current Year/ N 4 £ & H 21&)

Sales proceeds generated during the Current Year:
HK$105.8 million
AEEHEWRSR 1058 BET

Revenue of 2 sold units recognised during
the Current Year

QEEEFENRACREREEAR

(40% owned) ({h 409% 1 %5 )
Total units 28 {7 48 £: 262

Unitssold E €8 {7: 18
(18 sold during the Current Year/ 78 F £ & ) 18 1)

Sales proceeds generated during the Current Year:
HK$464.9 million
FEEHENRS 4649BBETT

Revenue of 9 sold units recognised during
the Current Year

IEEEEMNRACREAFEEAR

Mainland China

As a result of interruptions caused by the pandemic, construction and
transactions of Mainland's residential market contracted for most of the
Current Year. The property market began to recover after the easing of
stringent containment measures and gradual resumption of economic
and social activities in the last quarter of 2022. The property markets in
the cities where the Group operates are relatively resilient and showed
signs of recovery.

Supportive central and local government policies helped warm up the
market from the beginning of 2023. Housing demand started edging up
and land sales rebounded from a low base. Full positive impact on the
market will probably be apparent in the long term — property developers
are cautiously resuming the pace of development and investment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWNR DN

Alongside the gradual resumption of economic activity and the
expected increase in market demand, the Group has started to ramp up
its property development and sales activities during the Current Year.

In Jiaxing, Starlight One, a deluxe residential project of 392 high-rise
apartments and villas, obtained its occupation permit in January 2023.
Over 94% of the units were sold on the launch day in March 2023.

Total units 2 {i 42
3NRESELAEE

BEEEEEHERBIME RSERATSEEX
BN EEEAFECHRBMBEY ¥R M
SHEES -

UREET E’J%EEE%IEEE@'%ET%
NEEEBABEMEANE - B R2023F1 A

BB MME& I‘Eﬂiaﬁﬁﬂ% FI&EE KA
£ LB IR 4% ) B i o

| £:392 high-rise apartments and villas
2 v & Bl 2

Units sold & & & {: 371

GFA (sq.ft.) 2 HHE & (£ 5 R):768,000

Occupation permit ¥ A £ 4% B RS :
obtained in January 2023
202314

In the same month, the Group acquired a residential plot in Jiaxing's
Nanhu New District with a GFA of 1,415,000 square feet. It sits at a river
junction and is set to benefit from the development potential of the
Nanhu Fund Town.

In Hangzhou, development of IN One, a premium low-density project
comprising 245 apartments and 50 villas, is progressing on schedule
with completion expected by the end of 2023.

BAA SERBMLAZETEHTEEET
I B TE S A1415000F 5 R - %8B A
HIR/K BT ERERES/NENER -

UMM THBEEZE TR EMESET
ZEZREEB B SIRM245E R E E L K50mE
BIEF > FEHARA 2023 F KB T

IN One # &
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The residential plot in Shanghai's Songjiang District, which the Group
acquired in January 2022, will be developed into low-density residences
providing around 300 units. Foundation work has completed and
superstructure work is progressing.

The Group's key residential projects under development in mainland
China are:

GFA (sq. ft.)
BEEEE(EAR)

Projects
EHHE
Jiaxing, Zhejiang I E E &

Land lot no. 2023-06 in
Nanhu New District
80 37 [ 2023-06 5% 3 8

1,415,000

R202F 1A SEWEBALN EESTMRTERN
FEHEUEREARZREEE - REL3001E
B -METEE K FEEETREER
HITH -

ERMEANTEAHEEFEFEEEE
mF :

Status as of 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HMMMAR

Planning in progress, to be developed into a premium apartment
development with a plot ratio of 2:1.
Expected works commencement: End of 2023

HHEAERBREF BERafEE HWEHLRE -
TEHAE) TR RS : 20234 /K

Hangzhou, Zhejiang 37 5T & #1 M

245 low-rise apartments and 50 villas.
Construction works: In progress.

Expected completion: End of 2023

2458 1K [ A

%
H
Hib

BB MSotE R B IEHEITE

TEHASE A B [ 2023 F R

IN One 430,000
mER

Shanghai L&

Land lot no. $JS30003-02-04 350,000

in Songjiang District
ST 8 SJS30003-02-04 5% i 158

Around 300 units with a plot ratio of 1:1.
Foundation work has completed and superstructure works
commenced in February 2023.

#9300{E B (7 - HFELL T A1 o
WETEERK FEEETREER2023F2AFT -

The Group will continue to explore investment opportunities in
mainland China to expand its business footprint in other cities, especially
in the Yangtze River Delta region.

Thailand

Thailand relaxed travel restrictions in 2022, with Thailand Pass removed
in July 2022. Since then, Thailand’s economy and tourist arrivals have
been recovering and growing sharply compared to 2021. At present,
they are around halfway to returning to the pre-pandemic level, and full
recovery will take time. Real estate market sentiment is expected to
continue improving as the economy recovers.

In February 2023, the Group disposed of its 49% interest in the Wireless
Road project, realising an attractive return to expand its pool of funds for
future investment opportunities. The Group will continue to assess
appropriate development and investment opportunities and divest
existing land bank at appropriate time when the land price has
appreciated to a favourable level.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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PROPERTY INVESTMENT

Hong Kong

Business sentiment in Hong Kong stabilised from mid-2022 as the fifth
wave of the pandemic receded. Economic activity started to restore
order following the removal of social distancing measures and the re-
opening of borders in 2023.

Retail sales in Hong Kong rebounded from a relatively low base in 2022,
and rose 7% year-on-year in January 2023. The momentum continued
further with 31% and 41% year-on-year growth in February and March
2023 respectively.

Office rental demand was subdued in 2022 because of the pandemic
and uncertain economic outlook. Businesses tended to relocate to more
cost-effective locations or reduce office space by implementing remote
working from home, a trend that continued even when market
sentiment started to improve in early 2023.

To maintain occupancy rates and recruit new tenants, the Group
deployed proactive leasing activities including a series of marketing
campaigns and provision of furniture and fitting out packages.

The property investment projects in DB, in which the Group holds a 50%
interest, recorded stable revenue during the Current Year. DB Plaza and
DB North together achieved an average occupancy rate of 87%. Planning
is under way to enhance the retail mall, providing a better environment,
and retail and dining experiences for DB residents and visitors.

MERKRE

&8
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DB Plaza THi=2/E%
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The Group retained its major anchor tenants at the CDW Building in
Tsuen Wan, and secured a range of new tenants. As a result, the retail-
cum-office complex achieved an average occupancy rate of 93% during
the Current Year. At the 8% retail mall, both retail sales and footfall
recorded an upward trend since May 2022.

The United Daily News Centre in To Kwa Wan recorded an average
occupancy rate of 97% during the Current Year. Approval to modify the
land use from industrial to residential has been obtained and premium
negotiation is ongoing. West Gate Tower, a revitalised 24-storey office
building in Cheung Sha Wan, recorded an average committed
occupancy rate of 73% during the Current Year and reached over 90% in
May 2023.

Wellgan Villa, a residential building in Kowloon Tong held for rental
purposes, recorded an average occupancy rate of 86% during the
Current Year.

Mainland China

During the Current Year, performance of HTH in Shanghai (in which the
Group has a 50% interest) and HKR International Centre in Hangzhou
steadily recovered from the pandemic.

In Shanghai, the city-wide lockdown in April and May 2022 resulted in
across-the-board shop closures which significantly affected HTH's retail
mall performance during this period. After the lockdown was lifted, the
retail market has recovered noticeably amid the challenging market
environment. Since January 2023, with the easing of pandemic control
measures, HTH mall turnover has started to gain positive momentum,
attributing to its enhanced tenant mix and a strong traffic rebound.
During the Current Year, HTH retail mall recorded an average occupancy
rate of 92%.
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In 2022, despite the slowdown in demand for office space due to COVID-
19's resurgence, office rents at HTH remained resilient. HKRI Centres One
and Two continued to focus on retaining and attracting high-quality
clients while maintaining positive rental reversions. During the Current
Year, the two office towers recorded a combined average occupancy
rate of 99%.

For HKR International Centre in Hangzhou, where the Group holds 156
office units and the usage right of 62 parking lots, the property achieved
an average occupancy rate of 91% during the Current Year. Since its
acquisition in January 2022, the project has provided stable recurring
income for the Group.

Through continuous efforts to enhance the tenant mix, tenant retention,
new tenant acquisitions, and increasing marketing initiatives, the Group
speeds up the pace of recovery of its malls and offices in mainland China.
The Group will continue to explore further high-quality property
investment opportunities in the Yangtze River Delta and other regions
with growth opportunities to generate stable income growth.

TRANSPORTATION SERVICES AND
PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

TRANSPORTATION SERVICES

DB's transportation operations are managed by the Group's various
operating subsidiaries in which the Group has a 50% interest. With the
pandemic easing and the removal of social-distancing measures,
demand for sea and land transportation services is recovering steadily.
However, some existing operational challenges had intensified during
the Current Year, such as driver shortage was aggravated by heightened
demand arising from cross-border and tourist services expansion due to
the border re-opening, high fuel costs and more stringent maintenance
requirements.

Transportation emission controls remained a sustainability priority for
DB. Three newly ordered Euro VI-compliant double-deck buses were
delivered to Hong Kong and will be deployed to operate in the first half
of 2023, thus improving carrying capacity. As part of the Group's
environmental conservation efforts, plans are under way to procure new
electric vehicles, including buses and hire cars. Other plans are in the
pipeline to enhance transportation services by covering more locations
and increasing on-demand flexibility.
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For ferry services, refurbishment of DB Pier commenced in October 2022
and renovation of Central Pier No. 3 commenced in May 2023. Upon
completion, the upgraded transportation facilities will enhance the
customer experience and provide a much greater level of comfort for
both residents and visitors.

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

The Group's property management services in DB and elsewhere in
Hong Kong continued to perform well in the Current Year, as exemplified
by their commitment to service excellence and sustainability.

The property management team strives to integrate sustainable
practices into operations when managing DB's residential and public
areas. DB is one of the first communities in Hong Kong to launch the
Environmental Protection Department’s Pilot Scheme on Food Waste
Collection. It has also made use of the composting of food and yard
waste and the recycling of waste for horticultural purposes. The Green
DBers Programme was launched during the Current Year to boost
residents’ awareness of DB's green community initiatives.

HOTEL OPERATIONS AND LEISURE
BUSINESSES

After a challenging first half of the Current Year, international travel and
local social and economic activities gradually resumed, which helped
propel the performance of the Group’s hospitality businesses, especially
hotel operations. The clubhouses and leisure businesses are expected to
benefit from the full return of local and international travellers as well as
large scale events.
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HOTEL OPERATIONS

Hong Kong

Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong (in which the Group holds a 50%
interest) has been riding on the previous success of its staycation
initiative and introduced another themed summer staycation package in
mid-2023. In the second half of the Current Year, alongside the removal
of social distancing measures and the re-opening of borders, the hotel
rolled out popular festival packages and campaigns, driving a sustained
occupancy rebound. The hotel recorded an average occupancy rate of
70% during the Current Year.

The hotel will continue to reinforce its market leadership in themed
staycations, strengthen its wedding and Meeting, Incentive, Convention
& Exhibition business segments via external and internal expos, and
create promotional synergies by collaborating with the Group’s other
business units, including DB Ice Rink (“DBIR") and Peony Chinese
Restaurant, to drive business and brand awareness. To attract and retain
inbound customers, extra effort will be focused on leveraging the
Group's business partner networks and influencer marketing, coupled
with investment in Customer Relationship Management ("CRM")
technology.

Mainland China

The Group'’s hotel businesses were interrupted by the Shanghai-wide
lockdown over the second quarter of 2022, and continued to be affected
by stringent pandemic restrictions for the rest of the year. Since the
beginning of 2023, market sentiment has begun to rapidly revive
alongside with the easing of pandemic containment measures and
travel restrictions. The Sukhothai Shanghai and The Middle House (the
Group holds a 50% interest in both) are expected to benefit from this
upward trend.
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Thailand

Visitor arrivals in Thailand grew steadily after the gradual relaxation and
later removal of travel restrictions in 2022. Nonetheless, visitor volume is
only around half-way back to the pre-pandemic level. During the Current
Year, after a relatively weak first half, the hotel’s occupancy rate began
recovering. The Sukhothai Bangkok is expected to benefit from the
ongoing rebound of Thailand’s tourism industry. Construction of new
premise of The Sukhothai Spa is under way, with the new luxury spa
complex scheduled to open in the third quarter of 2023.

LEISURE BUSINESSES

DB is becoming an increasingly popular leisure hub. With its various
world-class venues and facilities, it is also poised to enhance Hong
Kong's image as Asia’s sports event capital. The various establishments
under the leisure business segment delivered good performance.

Despite DBIR being closed from January to end of April 2022 due to the
pandemic, the various festive and seasonal events held after the
closedown period resulted in year-on-year growth for walk-in visitors,
figure skaters and ice sports activities rentals. With its international
standard rink and team of professional coaches, DBIR has established
itself as an elite ice-skating academy, and has solidified its position as a
popular training-cum-competition venue for professional figure skating,
speed skating and ice hockey development.

Since June 2022, DBIR has introduced Hong Kong's first international
standard short-track speed skating programme in collaboration with
local Winter Olympian Sidney Chu. It has also been selected as one of
the official training centres for the Hong Kong National Figure Skating
Team, the only training base for the Hong Kong National Speed Skating
Team, and the venue partner for the Hong Kong Cup 2022, hosted by
the Hong Kong Skating Union.

The Sukhothai Bangkok
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DBIR will continue to reinforce its position as an international sports
competition venue and an elite ice-skating academy. In 2023, it will host
various regional and international competitions, including the Greater
Bay Championships Il and Skate Asia 2023, the world's largest
recreational figure skating competition.

At Lantau Yacht Club ("LYC"), yachtcation package customers and visiting
members generated additional revenue for LYC during the Current Year.
The yachtcation package offers an exclusive yacht lifestyle experience in
DB, including access to the LYC's gastronomic and hospitality offerings,
as well as spa treatments at Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong.
Characterised by its unique services and facilities, LYC was chosen to
host various yacht brand and yacht owners’ events. LYC will continue to
build on its exceptional brand equity to strengthen its membership
acquisition and partnership collaborations.

At Discovery Bay Golf Club, the number of golf rounds expanded year-
on-year during the Current Year. Plans are under way to further enhance
its clubhouse in 2023.

The Group holds a 50% interest in all of DB's leisure businesses.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

Despite challenging circumstances, HKRI steadfastly pursued its
sustainability objectives by aligning its Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG") initiatives with the SDGs and other regional
sustainability goals. The Group's sustainability objectives are realised
through its five strategic pillars comprising the Environment, Human
Capital, Community, Value Chain and Product Responsibility.
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To deliver on its commitment to climate accountability, the Group will
fully implement the recommendations established by the TCFD by 2025.
During the Current Year, the Group took a significant step in adopting
the TCFD framework, which enables the systematic disclosure of climate-
related information.

The Group will continue to enhance the comprehensiveness,
consistency, and transparency of its climate disclosures, while promoting
greater awareness of climate resilience within the organisation. Full
disclosure of the Group's sustainability vision, initiatives and performance
is contained in the Group's £SG Report. Interested stakeholders may refer
to the online £5G Report for more details.

In recognition of the Group's commitment to sustainability and
disclosure, it was awarded the Outstanding ESG Performer of the Year
(Listed Company) Diamond Award by the ESG Achievement Awards and
the Best ESG Report (Small Cap) Grand Award by the Hong Kong ESG
Reporting Awards (HERA) programme in 2022.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group's Environmental Policy and Climate Change Policy serve as
guiding principles for its business units’ sustainable practices. HKRI has
evolved its environmental goals, continually enhancing energy and
water efficiency, lowering emissions, and curbing waste production.

HKRI's internal Project Management Guideline encourages all new

developments to obtain Hong Kong Building Environmental Assessment
Method ("BEAM Plus") certification.
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The Group achieved its commitment to expand its use of clean and
renewable energy, and joined the CLP Power Hong Kong's Feed-in Tariff
scheme. The CDW Building commenced pilot installation of a rooftop
solar panel system. The installation of more rooftop solar panels is under
way for other projects in DB.

HKRI's hospitality businesses are committed to reducing their carbon
footprints, and have been progressively phasing out plastic products in
favour of biodegradable alternatives, such as takeaway boxes made from
corn starch and oyster shell powder. Concurrently, all the Group's
businesses have implemented rigorous internal policies to govern
material sourcing and waste management practices.

COMMUNITY SUPPORT

In alignment with the Group's HKRI All-in ESG theme, HKRI remains
dedicated to serving communities and individuals in need, especially
low-income groups and the socially disadvantaged, through its
volunteer initiatives.

During the Current Year, HKRI introduced foam bar football, a new sport
for the elderly that originated in Japan, to Hong Kong. The Group
collaborated with the Tung Wah Group of Hospitals and other non-
governmental organisations ("NGOs") to organise the All-In Foam Bar
Football Play-offs for the elderly. The sport is safe and inclusive for players
of various ages and levels of mobility, and encourages the elderly to
exercise and engage in interpersonal relationships.

To nurture the new generation, the Group held its third PRI’DE Creative
Camp Movable Chair Design Competition, which provided a platform for
young designers and artists from 27 countries, to showcase their
ingenuity while raising awareness of sustainable design. Besides, the
Group organised an architectural design competition for its
multi-recreation centre in DB (official name to be announced). By
offering related internship opportunity and together with experts as
honourable judges, the event aims to nurture young architectural talents
through academic-industrial-synergy.
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The Group continued to promote a caring culture in the communities it
operates by partnering with a wide range of NGOs, schools and other
community stakeholders and participating in various activities. During
the Current Year, the Love.Together@DB platform hosted the DB Kids
Farming Programme, DB Fun Carnival and DB Chinese New Year
Drawing Competition, and participated in a mural painting day in Tung
Chung.

As of 31 March 2023, the Group's donations and sponsorships to a range
of charities, educational institutions, and welfare organisations amounted
to HK$4.8 million, a year-on-year increase of 25%.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As of 31 March 2023, the total number of the Group'’s employees was 1,435.
Management frequently reviews its talent development schemes to
ensure the Group's competitiveness in the human capital market. The
Group fosters a harmonious working environment and an engaging
corporate culture through staff training and benefits, as well as wellness
programmes. Feedback and recommendations from employees are
collected through a corporate culture survey.

To support the personal and professional development of staff and
maintain competency levels, the Group conducted a series of training
programmes, covering a wide range of topics including leadership and
problem-solving skills. A “Safety Supervisor Training Course” and a “Speak
Up for Safety Programme” were arranged to promote safety awareness.

The Group believes employees are a vital company asset and values their
contributions. Staff across regions are annually recognised by “Outstanding
Employee Awards’, and long-service staff are eligible for special awards.
Starting mid-2022, a new birthday leave entitlement is being offered to
all permanent full-time employees.
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Staff wellness is another key element of an engaging workplace culture.
The Group's Hong Kong office introduced “HKRI Relaxing Time” for staff
to recharge during work, and “Casual Fridays” to encourage participation
in recreational activities after work.

During the pandemic, the Group continued to regularly organise
physical and mental wellbeing activities under its “The PRI’DE Wellness
Programme” to provide staff with support and foster a positive working
environment. Activities included a Pastel Nagomi Art Workshop and an
Emotion Management Workshop.

The Group was recognised with the “Manpower Developer — Grand Prize
Award 2020-22" under the ERB Manpower Developer Award Scheme;
and the “e-Contribution Award", “MPF Support Award” and “Good MPF
Employer 5 Years+" recognition by the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Authority.

CUSTOMERS

In order to consistently deliver high-quality operations, the Group has
implemented thorough internal policies and processes to effectively
manage its value chain.

During the Current Year, the Group adopted the Hazard Analysis Critical
Control Point ("HACCP") System and HACCP Food Safety Plan to ensure
strict oversight of, and adherence to, all critical aspects of food
preparation in line with the guidelines laid out in the Food Safety &
Hygiene Book. The Group's hotel ensures the high quality and standards
of its food and equipment through collaborating with food safety and
product testing specialists.
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The Group implements regular customer research and analysis to stay
informed on the latest market developments and changing stakeholder
expectations. A variety of communication channels were used to gather
input from customers, including service feedback, complaints, and
suggestions.

For the property segment, the leasing team held frequent meetings with
tenants to address their concerns and foster relationships. With regards
to transportation operations, quarterly meetings were held to gather
feedback from passengers.

SUPPLIERS

HKRI pursued supply chain sustainability, and paid close attention to its
product quality and environmental impact, as well as health
considerations. To ensure a high-quality supply chain, the Group selects
suppliers in accordance with the Tender and Procurement Policies, which
outline transparent, competitive, and equitable procurement procedures.

In response to stakeholders’ evolving preferences, the Group is
enhancing its Supplier Code of Conduct and Procurement Policy. The
Group's Supplier Code of Conduct outlines its expectations for suppliers in
areas such as business practices, labour and human rights, and
environmental performance. To improve the Group’s procurement
practices, the procurement system was upgraded during the Current
Year by enhancing integration and digital capabilities.
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Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor
BRARKTE

Executive Chairman
HITERE

Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor B4 mgA aged 73, was appointed as Executive
Director and Chairman of the Company in 1989 and November 2020
respectively. He was the Managing Director and the Deputy Chairman of
the Company until his appointment as Chairman. Mr CHA is also a
member of the Corporate Governance Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee and a director of some
subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 40 years’ extensive experience
in real estate development and textile manufacturing. Mr CHA is a non-
executive director ("NED") of Mingly Corporation (“Mingly”, a subsidiary
of CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM Trust")) and a director of LBJ
Regents (PTC) Limited (“LBJ Regents”). Mingly, CCM Trust and LBJ
Regents are substantial shareholders of the Company within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and together
whose interests in the Company represent the substantial interests of
the Cha Family in the Company. He ceased as an alternate independent
non-executive director ("INED") of New World Development Company
Limited ("NWD") with effect from 6 November 2020 (PST) and NWD is
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Mr CHA is the chairman of Hong Kong Arts Festival Society
Limited and a governor of the China-United States Exchange Foundation.
He is also a member of the board of trustees of The Better Hong Kong
Foundation and trustee of Sang Ma Trust Fund (“Sang Ma"). Mr CHA is
the father of Mr Benjamin CHA and a sibling to Ms Madeline WONG and
Mr Johnson CHA.
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Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline
EFEXELL

Non-executive Deputy Chairman

FHITRIER

Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline, aged 83, was appointed as Non-
executive Deputy Chairman of the Company in November 2020. She
joined the Board in 1989 and was re-designated as Non-executive
Director of the Company in December 2004. Ms WONG is also the
chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee, a member of the
Nomination Committee and a director of some subsidiaries of the
Company. She is the executive chairman of Mingly and also a director of
a number of private companies in Hong Kong and overseas, including
LBJ Regents. Ms WONG is the chairman and a trustee of Sang Ma. She is
a sibling to Mr Victor CHA and Mr Johnson CHA as well as an aunt of Mr
Benjamin CHA.

Mr TANG Moon Wah
BmzE &

Managing Director
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Mr TANG Moon Wah BA (Arch Studies), BArch, aged 69, was appointed as
Managing Director of the Company in November 2020. He was
appointed as Executive Director of the Company in December 2004 and
is also a director of some subsidiaries of the Company. Mr TANG has
been serving in the Group since 1985 and has over 40 years’ extensive
experience in property development. He is a fellow member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Architects (“HKIA") and has been an Authorised
Person and Registered Architect since 1982 and 1991 respectively.
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Mr CHEUNG Ho Koon
TROEEL LA
Executive Director

HITES

Mr CHEUNG Ho Koon BA (Arch Studies), BArch, aged 60, was appointed as
Executive Director of the Company in February 2021 and is also a
director of some subsidiaries of the Company. He joined the Group in
1996 and currently serves as Head of Projects and Country Head of
Thailand, leading the Group’s projects team and overseeing the daily
operation and property development in Thailand. Before joining the
Group, Mr CHEUNG worked in various architectural and property
developers and has over 30 years' extensive experience in project
management on property development. He graduated from the
University of Hong Kong in 1989 with an honors degree both in Bachelor
of Architectural Studies and Bachelor of Architecture. Mr CHEUNG is a
member of HKIA and has been the Authorised Person since 1991.

Mr LEE Ivan Wank-hay
ZRLER A

Executive Director

HITES
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Mr LEE Ivan Wank-hay cHa, miH, aged 65, was appointed as Executive
Director of the Company in December 2022 and is also a director of
some subsidiaries of the Company. He joined the Group in 2012 and
currently serves as General Manager — Hospitality leading the
operations team in Hong Kong, mainland China, Thailand and also future
hospitality business development for the Group. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr LEE has extensive hospitality management experience serving
at the capacity of regional vice president and area vice president for
Millennium & Copthorne Hotels, Pan Pacific Hotels Group in USA, Canada
and Singapore and as executive director, chief executive officer, group
general manager of Sino Land Company Limited and Sino Hotels
(Holdings) Limited for their 6 hotels and clubs in Hong Kong and
Singapore, namely The Conrad Hong Kong, The Fullerton Singapore and
others. He is a Certified Hotel Administrator, a graduate of Hotel
Management from British Columbia Institute of Technology, Canada and
Master Certificate holder of Cornell University School of Hotel
Administration, USA. Mr LEE is also active in the industry by having
served as chairman and vice chairman of Hong Kong Hotels Association,
board member of the Hong Kong Tourism Board, executive committee
member of The Federation of Hong Kong Hotel Owners and advisory
member of School of Hotel and Tourism Management of The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University.

38 HKR International Limited Annual Report 2022/2023

Z= Bl BR SE A cha v 655% 0 2022812 B M
ZEABARBNTES NAEARRETH
BRAZES - FR2NFEFMAREER B
BBEERBKE BERE TEAH -
ZEMEEER VAEEERKBEED
NER TEAHALEMNEEERELR
RIMASEREETTERIUBIE - 2 AF
FBEEEEER - I KT N E
BB R UEKENMEXEFRA
AREMAE(SRE)BRARIMATES
BEHNTE EEALE BEEEFEBR
FNMEAANFKBERSH(BEESEBRBEE
FTMBEEBRAES) HAXMBEEREA
B EXRNNEALABETHRLEEEITERE
EEREE UTEZBEEZRAZ2HEEETRE
BRELIEFE - TEENIRRER Lk
FEALEEHBEIREREREER  BBRIE
BRRAEZCGNE BRBEEEZTH TN
FECZEREABEIASHERKEEIE
BREMEE -



Ms NGAN Man Ying
BAN L L

Executive Director

HITES

Ms NGAN Man Ying BA (Business), FCCA, CPA, aged 57, was appointed as
Executive Director of the Company in February 2021 and is also a
director of some subsidiaries of the Company. She joined the Group in
2018 and currently serves as Head of Group Finance in leading the
Group finance and treasury functions as well as overseeing the Group's
residential property management, transportation services, information
technology, procurement, corporate communications and legal
functions. Before joining the Group, Ms NGAN had held several senior
positions in New World group and an international accounting firm. She
has over 35 years' extensive experience in finance function and in
property development sector. Ms NGAN holds a Bachelor Degree in
Business from the University of Southern Queensland and is a Certified
Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom ("ACCA").

Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson
BRI 5

Non-executive Director

FHITES
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Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson 8s,m84, aged 71, joined the Board in 1989 and
was re-designated as Non-executive Director of the Company in
December 2004. He is also a director of some subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr CHA has over 40 years' extensive experience in venture
capital and investment management and is currently the chairman of CM.
Capital Advisors (HK) Limited, non-executive chairman of Hanison
Construction Holdings Limited (“Hanison”) and a NED of Mingly and
Million Hope Industries Holdings Limited (“Million Hope"). Hanison and
Million Hope are listed on the Stock Exchange. He is also an INED of
Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited and a director of a number of other
companies in Hong Kong and overseas including CCM Trust and LBJ
Regents. Mr CHA is a member in non-profit organisations including Qiu
Shi Science & Technologies Foundation and Moral Education Concern
Group. He is also a Co-opted External Member to Finance Committee of
the Council of The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
("HKUST") and a member to the court of HKUST. Mr CHA is a sibling to Ms
Madeline WONG and Mr Victor CHA as well as an uncle of Mr Benjamin
CHA.
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Board of Directors
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Mr CHA Yiu Chung Benjamin
B S

Non-executive Director

FHUITES

Mr CHA Yiu Chung Benjamin &4, mgA aged 49, was appointed as Non-
executive Director of the Company in July 2022. He has over 20 years’
experience in property investment, property development and fund
management. Mr CHA is the founder and currently the chair of Seradac
Foundation Limited and was previously the chief executive and director
of Grosvenor Limited, the managing director and the head of global real
estate for Greater China of UBS Global Asset Management and Co-CEO
of UBS/Gemdale. Prior to these, he was Executive Director and Head of
HKR Asia-Pacific of the Company until he left the Company in July 2013.
Mr CHA is also active in non-profit making organisations and currently
serves on the board of Urban Land Institute, Tai Kwun Culture and Arts
Company Limited, and the Asia Art Archive Limited, serving as co-Chair.
He has a master's degree of Business Administration from Stanford
University and a Bachelor of Arts degree in International Politics and
Economics from Middlebury College. Mr CHA is the son of Mr Victor CHA
and a nephew of Ms Madeline WONG and Mr Johnson CHA.

Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus
SRIKFRITE

Independent Non-executive Director

BN FHTES
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Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus 8ssc, Jp, aged 75, joined the Board in January
2006 and was re-designated as Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company in March 2012, He is also the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company. Mr CHEUNG is an INED of China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited
which is listed on the Stock Exchange. He ceased as the board of
directors of Sotheby's with effect from 3 October 2019 due to its
privatization and delisted from the New York Stock Exchange on the
same day. Mr CHEUNG was also the chief executive of Hong Kong
Telecommunications Limited from 1994 to 2000, deputy chairman of
PCCW Limited from August 2000 to February 2004 and INED of Taikang
Life Insurance Co. Ltd. from 2005 to 2011.
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Mr FAN Hung Ling Henry
SEARE Tt

Independent Non-executive Director

BYFHTES

Mr FAN Hung Ling Henry, 84 18 s8s Jp, aged 75, was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in November
2017. He is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee, a member
of the Remuneration Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. Mr FAN has over 30 years’ experience in
business management. He is currently an INED of Sun Hung Kai
Properties Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange and the
managing director of Hong Kong Glory Limited, a family investment
company. Mr FAN also served as a director and then managing director
of CITIC Pacific Limited (now known as CITIC Limited) from 1990 and
1992 respectively to 2009 and the deputy chairman of Cathay Pacific
Airways Limited from 1997 to 2009. He has a long record of public
services in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR") and
is currently the chairman of the Hospital Authority and West Kowloon
Cultural District Foundation Limited, a member of the board of the
Financial Services Development Council and the West Kowloon Cultural
District Authority. Mr FAN was also a non-official member of the
Executive Council of Hong Kong, the chairman of the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Authority, a NED of Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC") and an INED of Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited ("HKEC"). He is an Attorney-at-Law in the State of
California, US.A. and Barrister-at-Law in Hong Kong and England and
Wales.
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Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta
AREZE

Independent Non-executive Director

B FHITES

Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta FCIH (retired), aged 76, was re-designated as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from
April 2010. Prior to her re-designation, she was appointed as Executive
Director in 1994 and redesignated as Non-executive Director in April
2008 upon her retirement from all executive roles in the Group. Ms HO is
also a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Company. She is a retired member of the Chartered Institute of
Housing Asian Pacific Branch and has over 45 years extensive experience
in property development, property investment and management.

Ms Barbara SHIU
ABERR 2+

Independent Non-executive Director

BYFHTES
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Ms Barbara SHIU, 8s¢, M4, aged 67, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in April 2021. She is also a member of
the Audit Committee of the Company. Ms SHIU has over 35 years’
experience in financial services and had held several senior positions in
various financial institutions including the Bank of China group. She was
the general manager of Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited in charge of
the operational risk and compliance department when she retired in
2014. Ms SHIU is currently an INED of Livi Bank Limited and Livi Holdings
Limited and chairs the risk committees of both companies. She also has
a long record of public services in the HKSAR and is active in non-profit
making organisations. Ms SHIU was a member of risk management
committee of HKEC, the chairman of Hong Kong Securities Institute, a
director of Hong Kong Deposit Protection Board and Financial Dispute
Resolution Centre, a member of the international advisory committee of
China Securities Regulatory Commission as well as a member of the
Product Advisory Committee and Investor Education Advisory
Committee of SFC. She obtained a Bachelor honors degree in Science
and a Master degree in Business Administration, both from University of
Toronto.
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Mr TANG Kwai Chang
HEZ L

Independent Non-executive Director

BAFHTES

Mr TANG Kwai Chang rcca, Fcpa, aged 70, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in September 2014. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee of the Company.
Mr TANG was a partner of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) with
extensive experience in auditing and audit risk management, the vice
chairman of Deloitte China and board member of Deloitte Global when
he retired in May 2013. He is currently an INED of Bank of
Communications (Hong Kong) Limited, Baowu Resources Company
Limited and Baosteel Resources International Company Limited
(subsidiaries of China Baowu Steel Group Corporation Limited), Tsit Wing
International Holdings Limited (“Tsit Wing”) and Foxconn Interconnect
Technology Limited (which carries on business in Hong Kong as FIT Hon
Teng Limited (“FIT")). Both Tsit Wing and FIT are listed on the Stock
Exchange. Mr TANG is a fellow member of both ACCA and HKICPA. He is
also currently a convenor of Financial Reporting Review Panel of the
Accounting and Financial Reporting Council.
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Directors’ Report

EEERE

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of HKR International Limited (the
“Company”) announces the audited final results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are set
out in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 224 to
236.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

Results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 106.

The Board has recommended the declaration of a final dividend of HK1
cent per share for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: HK5 cents) to the
shareholders whose names appear on the registers of members of the
Company on 1 September 2023. The proposed final dividend will be
paid on 19 September 2023 following approval at 2023 annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on 23 August 2023 (the “2023
AGM"). The proposed final dividend represents the total dividend
payable by the Company for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: HK8
cents).

CLOSURE OF REGISTERS OF MEMBERS

The main and branch registers of members of the Company will be
closed from 18 to 23 August 2023 (both days inclusive) for the 2023 AGM
as well as from 30 August to 1 September 2023 (both days inclusive) for
the final dividend. During the periods, no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2023 AGM,
and to qualify for the final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023, all
properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company's share
registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 17 and 29
August 2023 respectively. The notice of the 2023 AGM will be published
on the websites of the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and despatched to the shareholders of
the Company in due course.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the Group’s business and analysis of the Group's performance
using financial key performance indicators during the year, a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group and an
indication of the likely future development of the Group'’s business are
provided in the sections of this annual report headed “Chairman’s
Statement” (on pages 8 to 15), “Management Discussion and Analysis” (on
pages 16 to 35), “Directors’ Report” (on pages 44 to 65), “Financial
Highlights” (on page 90), “Financial Review” (on pages 91 to 95), “Five-year
Financial Summary” (on page 240) and in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements. For review of the development, performance or
position of the Group's business, the Group's environmental policies and
performance, compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group and understanding of the
Group's key relationships with its employees, customers and suppliers
and others that have a significant impact on the Group, please see
sections of this annual report headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” (on pages 16 to 35), “Directors’ Report” (on pages 44 to 65) and
"Corporate Governance Report” (on pages 66 to 89) as well as the £SG
Report of the Group which is published online at the same time of this
annual report.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the Company has
complied with the requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") and the applicable companies laws.
Details of the Company’s compliance with the code provisions set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") contained in the Listing
Rules are provided in the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 66 to
89.

The Group has set up proper procedures to ensure adherence to the
relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the
Group in conduct of its business, including but not limited to the
Residential Properties (First-hand Sales) Ordinance, Competition
Ordinance, Buildings Ordinance, Hotel and Guesthouse Accommodation
Ordinance, Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, Minimum Wage
Ordinance, Employment Ordinance, Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance, Regulations on Administration of Development and
Operation of Urban Real Estate, Regulations on Administration of
Qualification of Real Estate Development Enterprises and Regulatory
Measures on the Sale of Commercial Houses. Any new enactment of or
changes in the relevant laws and regulations would be communicated
to the relevant departments and staff to ensure compliance. Reminders
on compliance would also be sent out where necessary. During the year
under review, there were no recorded cases of non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations regarding the environment, labour
standards, occupational health and safety, anti-corruption or data privacy
in Hong Kong and overseas.

E 3 JE)

RER SEEXEB2EQRKBMSBRE
MIBEz o SEEY 2 EZRAKMNTA
AR AREBEBRAUEHRZE
BRE HMERAFRZIEERE(F8EH
EFISE) - [BERBEAREIMI(FieEE
FE) [EFgRE(BHMEEFSH)
[ E(F0ER) [MHEEBEI(FnEaE
Fo5H) [AFWBME](F2408) REEH
BREMNETRN EHRESREEBEBER - K
Bk fhn  SERERXMEKRR BTHE
EEEAFEHBEEMER URTHR
EHEEES FERPAEEBLAEEEEE
AFENEMATZEEFEIE  F2H
AERZIEEEBTM IS (BE16BEH3S
B) [EEeRE | (FMBEEFesBH) NI E

ERME] (B HEHOR)  URRKFEH
A—WRMEMERG2Z REORS 18R

REZE2023F3A3AETRFER KA A
BETHIMESFEMMAANTEMRAD -
BERBAEGKRA(TEHEHNDARBERZ A
AEMBE - BEARREST EMBASE
ERSTRI(TEFAD a2 F AR CH
BERBOHEFBEZ [ EERABRE]IAN -

SECHFTEEZIEF UWHRRETHEER
XBBEAZEZHBERZRAMN 21 A
TR -FEEMEREEEMN) HFH
) - CREMEG) - GREEFED)  (EAE
BHLE) 501D (HRE T E B - R F &
)~ KB ERR 2 RERGEOD - CHH B ER
BREEEGKRO) (FHERZELXEELEE
B E) RCE B HE BRI o A0 #E P
KRBT EEMNSARERE RS ZAEMHE
e 8 UEERTAHEBRE NAEFE
NEBRXARETR -ROBFERN FEYL
BAEMERERE STEA BERERH
2 RESHKEALEHEE2EB &SI
EEEROIZER -

TEFREREEARAT 20222023 £ 45


https://www.hkri.com/-/media/hkri/documents/esg-report/esg-report-2022-2023.pdf?la=en&hash=D453260151FA8719BF4AF358DA83960A158BE720
https://www.hkri.com/-/media/hkri/documents/esg-report/esg-report-2022-2023.pdf?la=en&hash=D453260151FA8719BF4AF358DA83960A158BE720
https://www.hkri.com/-/media/hkri/documents/esg-report/esg-report-2022-2023.pdf?la=zh-tw&hash=DE2DEBC06C9BC7ADC5E5BEBCB153BA6B63EE673E
https://www.hkri.com/-/media/hkri/documents/esg-report/esg-report-2022-2023.pdf?la=zh-tw&hash=DE2DEBC06C9BC7ADC5E5BEBCB153BA6B63EE673E

Directors” Report

EEEHE

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's businesses, financial conditions, results of operations and
growth prospects may be affected by risks and uncertainties directly or
indirectly pertaining to the Group'’s businesses. The risk factors set out
below are those that could result in the Group businesses, financial
conditions, results of operations or growth prospects differing materially
from expected or historical results. Such factors are by no means
exhaustive or comprehensive, and there may be other risks in addition to
those shown below which are not known to the Group or which may
not be material now but could turn out to be very material in the future.
In addition, this annual report does not constitute a recommendation or
advice to invest in the securities of the Company and investors are
advised to make their own judgment or consult their own investment
advisors before making any investment in the securities of the Company.

A) PROLONGED COVID-19 PANDEMIC

More and more governments, including places of businesses at which
the Group operates, are relaxing their pandemic restrictions and trying
to support the sluggish economy with various measures, but time is
required for the economy to recover. At current time, there is no clarity
as to how long the domestic or the global economies can resume to
pre-pandemic level. In addition, the pandemic remains unpredictable
due to the potential emergence of new coronavirus variants and might
cause disruption to businesses and tangible costs to the Group's
operation should the pandemic becomes a major health risk again. To
mitigate the risks, the Group will continue to closely monitor the
pandemic development and react timely and proactively to the impact
of the same on its operations and performance, including but not limited
to the implementation of further cost control measures and launching
more creative initiatives to enhance its competitiveness. Moreover, the
Company will continue to use its best endeavours to protect the well-
being of its employees, including regular disinfection in the workplace,
increasing utilisation of virtual meetings and adopting appropriate
flexible working arrangements while ensuring its operations is
maintained at normal level.
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B) RISKS PERTAINING TO PROPERTY
DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT

Property development and investment are the Group’s core businesses,
primarily in Hong Kong, mainland China and Thailand. There exist a
number of factors which could affect the property market in these
regions, including among other things, changes in the economic,
political and legal environment, as well as social issues like large-scale
outbreak of pandemic disease and changes in the government’s policies
and regulations in these regions. These inherent risks may affect the
Group's investment strategy, business model and the overall
performance of the Group's financial results and positions. To mitigate
the risks, the Group actively assesses overall economic, social, political,
legal, and property market developments as well as their changes in
these regions and continue to review and evaluate its investment
strategy to ensure the Group responds to the market changes promptly
and appropriately. The Group will also stay alert to market needs and
continuously upkeep the quality of its investment properties, and build
up a diversified and high-quality tenant-mix in order to preserve its
competitiveness. For each potential project, detailed feasibility and stress
test with regard to all aspects will be carried out before making any
commitment and will also share such risk with potential joint venture
partner, if considered appropriate.

C) RISKS PERTAINING TO OPERATIONS OF THE
GROUP

The Group's operations are subject to a number of risk factors distinctive
to the operation of property development and investment, hospitality,
leisure and transportation businesses. For instance, default on the part of
contractors or sub-contractors, buyers and tenants; or inadequacies or
failures of internal processes and systems; or other external factors such
as the outbreak of pandemic disease, rising construction cost, increase in
inflationary pressures including fuel cost, increasing competition and
seasonality. In addition, accidents which may happen despite policies
and procedures are set up for their prevention, can lead to financial loss,
litigation, damage of reputation and may cause certain degree of
negative impact on the results of the operations. To mitigate the relevant
risks, the Group regularly reviews its existing policies and procedures to
ensure their effectiveness and adequacy, imposes straight guidelines on
carefully selecting and engaging vendors, closely monitors the project
time frame and status, keeps on assessing the market condition and
changes in order to react with appropriate business strategies, such as
try to increase the local market shares in its hotel operation by launching
attractive package and themed campaigns as well as continuously
improves its service quality and facilities to ensure its competitiveness on
attracting banquets and corporate events to protect and drive
profitability. The Group has also arranged adequate insurance coverage
on business interruption or disaster that may result in loss of income.
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D) FINANCIAL RISKS

The major financial instruments of the Group include equity instruments
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, investments in debt instruments
measured at amortised cost, trade receivables, amounts due from
associates, loans to joint ventures, amounts due from joint ventures,
bank balances and cash, other financial assets, trade payables, deposits
received and other financial liabilities, bank and other loans and other
liabilities. The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. Details of these financial instruments and the policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out in note 44 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 210 to 223.

E) HUMAN RESOURCES RISKS

The Group's success is dependent upon its ability to attract, train, retain
and motivate highly skilled and qualified staff members in every aspect.
The loss of key personnel, or the inability to find additional qualified
personnel, could materially and adversely affect the Group’s prospects in
providing adequate resources to support the existing and growing
business, and hence the results of operations. To mitigate such
uncertainty, succession planning is adopted to identify successors for
key management positions and continuously provide coaching and
training, both in-house and external, for talent development. The Group
also regularly reviews its compensation and benefit packages to ensure
such packages are in line with the market as well as creates a bonding
culture to strengthen the sense of belongings of staff members.

F) CYBER-ATTACKS RISKS

Corporate cyber-attacks have increased in frequency, scale and severity
in recent years. Cyber-attacks may cause loss of data, leakage of
confidential information including personal information of customers
and employees, equipment failure and also disruptions to the Group’s or
its partners’ operation for a significant period of time. The adverse impact
of cyber-attacks may include reputation damage, loss of investors’
confidence, loss of revenue from business interruption and resulting
claims, all of which could be substantial. To mitigate the risk of cyber-
attacks on the Group, external cyber security consultant has been
engaged to conduct cyber security assessment and penetration tests on
a regular basis. Information technology orientation sessions and disaster
recovery drills are regularly conducted. Firewall, email filtering and web
content filtering have been adopted and anti-virus programs on servers
and computers have been installed. In addition, regular user-education
on cyber security risks is maintained through internal communication.
All these measures could prevent the attacks from hackers and reduce
cyber security risks.
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G) COMPLIANCE RISKS

Whilst the Group has a diversified portfolio of business operations across
Hong Kong, mainland China and other key cities in Asia, there may be a
risk associated with the failure to anticipate the trend of regulatory
changes on compliance with the relevant requirements of the local laws
or regulations. To mitigate the risks, the Group continually monitors
changes in relevant local laws and regulations, actively assesses the
effect of relevant developments and seeks for legal advice whenever
necessary to ensure that the relevant requirements are properly
complied with in an effective manner.

H) ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE-RELATED
RISKS

Climate change affects all regions around the world. Main threats
stemming from the accelerating global warming due to the increase in
greenhouse gases include melting of polar ice shields, rising in seas
levels, and more extreme, intense and unpredictable weather events like
excess rainfall, typhoons, flooding, etc. Extreme weather may increase
the risks of disruption of the Group’s business operations and supply
chain, and physical damage to the Group's assets located in the affected
areas, resulting in loss of revenue, higher repair and maintenance costs,
as well as the loss in value of our investments. In addition, extreme
weather conditions may lead to loss of life or injury to the Group's
employees, customers or third parties, for which the Group is expected
to be held responsibilities, causing legal and financial liability, as well as
reputational damage. In support of “Goal 13: Climate Action” under the
United Nations Sustainable Development Goals, the Company adopts a
proactive approach to assess its vulnerability to climate risks and
integrates such considerations into its strategic planning, aiming to
mitigate the impact of climate change on its operations and enhance
resilience to climate change. Initiatives include monitoring and reducing
the Group'’s carbon footprint by formulating and implementing long-
term emissions reduction targets; adopting industry best practices as far
as feasible to improve energy efficiency through introducing more
advanced green technology and green building design, and exploring
the use of renewable energy in our operations; improving the design of
new development projects to resist natural hazards; providing training
to employees to enhance the Group's preparedness and adaptability to
extreme weather events; and closely monitoring the market and
regulatory changes about low-carbon transition. More details on how
the Group addresses the environmental and climate-related risks are set
out in the ESG Report of the Group which is published online at the
same time of this annual report.
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Risk management is closely linked to the Group’s internal control
framework. Key controls for mitigating high risks identified in the risk
management process are subject to independent review by the Internal
Audit Department. During the year under review, the Audit Committee,
on behalf of the Board, has reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’'s risk
management and internal control systems. Details of the aforesaid
review of the effectiveness are disclosed in the “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 66 to 89.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 198.

DIRECTORS

During the financial year ended 31 March 2023, Mr Benjamin CHA was
appointed and Mr Ronald ARCULLI retired as Non-executive Director
(“‘NED") of the Company with effect from 4 July and 24 August 2022
respectively. In addition, Mr lvan LEE was appointed as Executive Director
("ED") of the Company with effect from 1 December 2022. The Directors
as at the date of this annual report are those set out on pages 36 to 43 of
this annual report.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association (the “Articles”),
the CG Code of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, Mr Victor CHA, Mr Ivan
LEE, Mr Johnson CHA, Ms Loretta HO and Mr TANG Kwai Chang will retire
by rotation at the 2023 AGM. All the retiring Directors are eligible for re-
election and except Ms Loretta HO, all other retiring Directors have
offered themselves for re-election. Ms Loretta HO shall retire from office
as Independent Non-executive Director (“INED") of the Company and
accordingly cease as a member of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company with effect from conclusion of
the 2023 AGM and will not offer herself for re-election. Other remaining
Directors will continue in office.

None of the Directors who offering themselves for re-election at the
2023 AGM has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation) and all Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the AGMs of the Company in accordance with
the Articles. The rotation clause sets up a mechanism to ensure that all
Directors shall retire at least once every three years.
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Each of the INEDs of the Company has confirmed his/her independence
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all INEDs of the Company meet the independence guidelines set
out in the Listing Rules and are independent accordingly.

Assisted by heads of functional units, the EDs of the Company have the
direct responsibilities for the business and operations of the Group and
hence the EDs of the Company are regarded as the Company’s senior
management. Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages
36 to 43. Details of the Directors’ emoluments are also provided under
note 13 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 166 to 168.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY AND DIRECTORS
AND OFFICERS LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Articles provides that every Director is entitled to be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she
may sustain or incur in carrying out his/her duties or otherwise in relation
thereto. Directors and Officers Liability Insurance Policy is in place to
protect the Directors against potential costs and liabilities arising from
claims brought against the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests or short positions of the Directors and
their respective associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the "Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules and adopted by the Company
were as follows:
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A) LONG POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OF THE A) REABSREE2EBTR
COMPANY OF HK$0.25 EACH BZ2HER
Number of ordinary share Approximate
BEERHA percentage of
issued share
Personal Other capital
Name of director  Capacity interests interest Total hEBITHRAZ
E=E8 =87} PN F Hfth # % By BB
Victor CHA Beneficial owner and beneficiary of 1,254,278 791,896,895" 793,151,173 5340
B discretionary trusts
ExEAALRBBERIEA
Madeline WONG Founder and/or beneficiary of - 789684,8827* 789,684,882 53.17
FEXE discretionary trusts
BiEEEIL AR/ZmA
Johnson CHA Beneficiary of discretionary trusts - 790,469,647 790,469,647 5322
BRI BEEEXEA
Benjamin CHA Beneficiary of discretionary trusts - 780,233,599" 780,233,599 5253
R+ BIEELEXEA
Loretta HO Beneficial owner 94,160 - 94,160 0.01
e 5 BExnEAA
TANG Moon Wah Beneficial owner 148,720 - 148,720 0.01
B m & EnEA A

52

The shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM Trust”) and LBJ Regents (PTC) Limited (“LBJ
Regents”) are the corporate trustees and the relevant Directors are among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.

ZERMBRE T REEISEF &A% ACCM Trust (Cayman) Limited ([ CCM Trust]) & LBJ Regents (PTC) Limited ([LBJ Regents|) Z /& B %
HARE MEREEBERREBEZRA -

635,627,031 shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust and LBJ Regents are the corporate trustees and the
Director is among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.

635627031 RN BN E T AREBIEEFELHABCMTrust X LBJRegents ZZE ZEAB B M EFERBBETHEA -

The Director is, under two separate discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust and LBJ Regents are the corporate trustees, the founder and member of the
classes of discretionary beneficiaries thereof. Such trusts are deemed to be interested in 154,057,851 shares in aggregate.
ZEERABRCIMTrust ZLBJ Regents ZEBRFAAMFHZMETNRABBEETNAZAREPHNRBEREA ZEEERERE
B 6 $£154,057851 B A& 17 2 A% o
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B) SHARE OPTIONS

Directors have been granted share options of the Company, details of
which are set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme”
below.

Save as disclosed above and for certain Directors holding non-beneficial
interests in the share capital of some subsidiaries of the Company as the
nominee shareholders, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors or
their respective associates had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) as recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The existing share option scheme of the Company was approved and
adopted by shareholders of the Company on 25 August 2021 (the “2021
Scheme”) and the listing status of shares to be granted under the 2021
Scheme was granted by the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange
on 27 August 2021. Particulars of the 2021 Scheme as required to be
disclosed under the Listing Rules are set out below:

A) PURPOSE

To provide the participants who have been granted share options to
subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company with the opportunity to
acquire proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage the
participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company and
its shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

B) PARTICIPANTS

All Directors, full-time employees and any consultants (employed on a
contract basis) of the Company and its subsidiaries are eligible to
participate in the 2021 Scheme.

C) MAXIMUM NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE
FORISSUE

A maximum number of 148,530,180 shares of the Company may be
issued upon exercise of all share options granted or to be granted under
the 2021 Scheme.
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D) MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH
PARTICIPANT

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the share options granted and to be granted to each
participant (including both exercised and unexercised share options)
under the 2021 Scheme or any other share option scheme (if any)
adopted by the Company in any 12-month period must not exceed 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue unless otherwise approved by the
shareholders of the Company.

Where any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or an INED
of the Company, or any of their respective associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules), would result in the shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all share options already granted and to be
granted to such person in any 12-month period up to and including the
date of the grant:

- representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of the Company
inissue; and

- having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant in excess of HK$5.0 million,

such grant of share options shall be subject to prior approval of the
shareholders of the Company who are not connected persons of the
Company as defined in the Listing Rules.

E) PERIOD WITHIN WHICH THE SHARES MUST BE
TAKEN UP UNDER A SHARE OPTION

A share option must be exercised within 10 years from the date on
which it is granted or such shorter period as the Board (or the relevant
committee thereof) may specify at the time of grant.

F) MINIMUM PERIOD AND REQUIREMENT, IF ANY,
FOR WHICH A SHARE OPTION MUST BE HELD
BEFORE IT CAN BE EXERCISED

At the time of the grant of a share option, the Board (or the relevant
committee thereof) must specify the minimum period(s), if any, for
which a share option must be held before it can be exercised.
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G) PERIOD OPEN FOR ACCEPTANCE OF A SHARE
OPTION AND AMOUNT PAYABLE UPON
ACCEPTANCE

The offer of the grant of a share option (of which the date of grant must
be a business day of the Stock Exchange) must be accepted within 14
days from the date on which the offer letter is delivered to the
participant and a consideration of HKS1 must be paid upon acceptance.

H) BASIS OF DETERMINING THE SUBSCRIPTION
PRICE OF A SHARE OPTION

The subscription price of a share option shall be no less than the higher
of:

- the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant;

- the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days of the Stock Exchange immediately preceding the date of
grant; and

- the nominal value of a share of the Company on the date of grant.

1)  REMAINING LIFE

The 2021 Scheme has a life of 10 years and will expire on 24 August 2031
unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of the 2021
Scheme.

DETAILS OF SHARE OPTIONS GRANTED AND
AVAILABLE FOR GRANT

The total number of shares in the Company available for grant of share
options under the 2021 Scheme is 148,530,180 shares which represents
10% of the issued share capital of the Company at the date of adoption
of the 2021 Scheme (i.e. 25 August 2021). During the year, 420,000 share
options were lapsed and no share option was granted, exercised or
cancelled in accordance with the terms of the 2021 Scheme.

Upon the adoption of the 2021 Scheme, the share option scheme
adopted in 2011 (the “2011 Scheme”) was terminated on 27 August 2021
but the share options granted prior to the termination continue be valid
and exercisable in accordance with the 2011 Scheme. During the vyear,
no share option was exercised or lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the 2011 Scheme.
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Details of the movement of share options during the year and the
outstanding share options as at 31 March 2023 under the 2021 Scheme
and 2011 Scheme, respectively were as follows:

A) SHARE OPTIONS UNDER THE 2021 SCHEME

B AE 2021 F 51 & 2011 F5H 81 4R £ A R 5
AFERNZEE EN2023FE38318 HKITE
2O EAEFEES RN

A) BEB2021FEFEFHR M EE

Number of share option

Exercise price R BRHE
per share Balanceasat Lapsed Balanceasat
Name or Category of HK$ 1April 2022 during 31March 2023
participant Date of grant** BRITEE R2022& theyear #2023 F
SHENHZRER R B (Bx) 4818 &% FREMU 3A31B &8
Victor CHA 24 November 2021 3.028 9,500,000 - 9,500,000
EMK 2021115248
TANG Moon Wah 24 November 2021 3.028 6,000,000 - 6,000,000
HimE 2021511 A 248
CHEUNG Ho Koon 24 November 2021 3028 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
& 2021 11 A4 A
Ivan LEE 24 November 2021 3028 600,000 - 600,000
TR 202111 A 248
NGAN Man Ying 24 November 2021 3.028 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
BXE 20216115248
Madeline WONG 24 November 2021 3028 3,500,000 - 3,500,000
TEXE 202111 B 248
Johnson CHA 24 November 2021 3028 2,400,000 - 2,400,000
EmeE 2001 11 A1 B
Linus CHEUNG 24 November 2021 3028 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
KK AR 2021115248
Henry FAN 24 November 2021 3028 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
BER 2021511 A248
Loretta HO 24 November 2021 3028 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
AIHE 2021411 B 248
Barbara SHIU 24 November 2021 3.028 600,000 - 600,000
ER 2021115248
TANG Kwai Chang 24 November 2021 3.028 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
HEY 2021511 A24H
Ex-director® 24 November 2021 3028 2,400,000 - 2,400,000
AEES 20218115248
Employees € 8 24 November 2021 3.028 4,140,0007 420,000 3,720,000
2021F 11 A4 A
Total &5t 39,940,000 420,000 39,520,000
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Share options granted are exercisable during the period from 24 November 2021 to 23 November 2026.

¢ R ZRRMERER R2021F11 A24 B E 2026511 23 BB ARITE ©

The share options vested immediately on the date of grant.

O BROBEARLARNKES -

©  ADirector retired with effect from 24 August 2022.
¢ —HBR2002FSAMUAREZESE-

600,000 share options were reclassified upon the appointment of an employee as Director.

7 600000 RN EIERE T — G EEARESRETHE -

B) SHARE OPTIONS UNDER THE 2011 SCHEME B) HBIB2011FFERLERHDHRE
Number of share option
#
Exercise price R BRHE

per share Balance asat Lapsed Balanceasat
Name or Category of HK$ 1April 2022 during 31March 2023
participant BRTEE R2022F theyear R2023 5
SHEERZHER Date of grant®”’ R B (B) 41 BER FREMK 331 B &%
Victor CHA 28 February 2017 201742 A 28H 3845 3,190,000 - 3,190,000
BB 12 March 2018 20183 A 12H 4373 5,500,000 - 5,500,000
TANG Moon Wah 28 February 2017 20172 A 28H 3845 2,200,000 - 2,200,000
BimiE 12 March 2018 2018F3A12H 4373 3,300,000 - 3,300,000
CHEUNG Ho Koon 12 March 2018 2018F3A12H 4373 440,000 - 440,000
R E
lvan LEE 12 March 2018 20183 A 120 4373 220,000 - 220,000
%L BR
Madeline WONG 28 February 2017 201742 A 280 3845 1,210,000 - 1210000
TEx% 12 March 2018 2018%F3H12H 4373 1,760,000 - 1,760,000
Johnson CHA 28 February 2017 2017%2 8280 3.845 1,210,000 - 1,210,000
BitE 12 March 2018 20183 A 128 4373 1,760,000 - 1,760,000
Linus CHEUNG 28 February 2017 2017F2 A 288 3.845 550,000 - 550,000
RIKFR 12 March 2018 2018F3A 128 4373 880,000 - 880,000
Loretta HO 28 February 2017 2017F2 A 28H 3.845 770,000 - 770,000
mkiEE 12 March 2018 20183 A 128 4373 880,000 - 880,000
TANG Kwai Chang 28 February 2017 201792 A 288 3845 220,000 - 220,000
HEw 12 March 2018 20183 A 128 4373 880,000 - 880,000
Ex-directors" 28 February 2017 20179282808 3.845 4,620,000 - 4,620,000
HEE" 12 March 2018 20183 A 12H 4373 5,940,000 - 5,940,000
Employee & 8 12 March 2018 20183/ 128 4373 220,000" - 220,000
Total 23+ 35,750,000 - 35,750,000
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Share options granted on 28 February 2017 are exercisable during the period from 28 February 2017 to 27 February 2027. Share options granted on 12
March 2018 are exercisable during the period from 12 March 2018 to 11 March 2028.

O R2017F2 A28 B 2 B n BRME AT A 2017F 2 A28 B E2027F 2 A27 B HARI M 1T o 20183 B 12 AR 2 B 1 HA#E AT 12 2018

F3/8128F2028F3 811 AHMAITE -

The share options vested immediately on the respective dates of grant.

¢ ROBERSELBBAESEE -
Y BEZEZ55IR2018F3H31H8

220000 B RN EE - R EEREFREHN O -

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share Option Scheme” above, at
no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the interests of the Directors in
businesses, which competed or were likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group as required to be disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules are as follows:

- Mr Johnson CHA is the non-executive chairman of Hanison
Construction Holdings Limited (“Hanison”) whose group’s businesses
consist of property investment, property development and property
management. Hanison is listed on the Stock Exchange.

Save for the INEDs of the Company and save as disclosed above, none of
the Directors was interested in any business apart from the Group's
businesses which competed or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the year.
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Including three Directors resigned or retired with effect from 31 March 2018, 1 April 2021 and 24 August 2022 respectively.
C20215F4 A1 H K202 8 A4 ABHERREMNES -

220,000 share option were reclassified upon the appointment of an employee as Director.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERR

As at 31 March 2023, the following persons (other than the Directors) 7202343 A31 8 B AR & 1R B 5 &0 &
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of 336 (&R EBF B2 S MRt To AL
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under (EEBIN RNAR T Z R0 R AR IK D T %

Section 336 of the SFO: BREDSABWT :
LONG POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OF RAQXTEREENL2SEBTRG Z
THE COMPANY OF HK$0.25 EACH 'S

Approximate
percentage of
Numberof issued share capital

Name of shareholder Capacity ordinary share HERITREAZ

IR R A g7} EBRHAE BB

CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited Corporate trustee 715,617,969" 4817
EERFEA

LBJ Regents (PTC) Limited Corporate trustee 101,084,280" 6.81
EEEFEA

Mingly Corporation Interest of controlled corporations 144,606,568' 9.73

BHEBEERER AT REAE R

OEl Kang Eric Interest of controlled corporations/

= M Interest held jointly with another person 76,222,400 513
XmEE R/ EMARRFEZ

=
Claudio Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporations 74,560,800 5.02

HEEE S

These share interests comprise 571,011,401 shares held directly by CCM Trust and 144,606,568 shares held indirectly through wholly-owned subsidiary
of Mingly Corporation (“Mingly”), which CCM Trust is interested in 87.5% equity interest. CCM Trust holds the above share interests as corporate trustee
of certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries comprise the late Dr CHA Chi Ming’s
spouse and their issue.

ZERNERBECMTUtEER B 2571011401 KROH R EBENERERERARDNTEND 2 2EWNBARBEREZ
144,606,568 A% B& 17+ 11 CCM Trust Bl #E B & J1875% M 1 2 % o COMTrust BUE B R sEA S D AE T AR MG S5t A L7 #
o MZEEAZHEIRARECHEERBLI ZEBREE 2K -

The shares are held by LBJ Regents as corporate trustee of certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which members of the classes of discretionary
beneficiaries comprise the late Dr CHA Chi Ming's issue.

ZERMDTIALBIRegents LUEBZ AT N RET IRANBEERARE MREFERAZNEXEACRRCREERBL 2R -

The shares are held indirectly by Mingly through its wholly-owned subsidiary.
ZERDAEGNBERETEMBRAMRERSA -

As at 12 May 2021 as disclosed to the Stock Exchange, 4,936,800 shares are held jointly by OEI Kang Eric with another person and 71,285,600 shares are
held by corporations (including Claudio Holdings Limited) controlled by OEl Kang Eric.

22021455 B 12 H AR X P 2 #R 58 - 4,936,800 A AR 15 A =Ml B2 4 A S RI45 8 - 171,285,600 A% A 1 B £ 25 Ml 122 1 2 )% B (8 45 Claudio
Holdings Limited ) 3 74 ©

As at 14 May 2021 as disclosed to the Stock Exchange, the shares are held by, through corporations controlled by, Claudio Holdings Limited.
202155 A 148 R R FT 2 5 0 5% B8 10 B Claudio Holdings Limited i 38 HL 12§ 2 A @5 5 ©
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, no other interests or short
positions in the shares of the Company were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

DEBT SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2023, the Company has issued HK$300 million in a
principal amount of unlisted notes due May 2031. Details of the debt
securities are disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 194.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions as disclosed under paragraphs (a) of note
46 to the consolidated financial statements on page 237 constitute
connected transaction(s) or continuing connected transaction(s) under
the Listing Rules but are exempt from shareholders’ approval and
disclosure and other requirements under rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.
Save for the aforesaid transactions, the other related party transactions
shown in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements do not
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS,
TRANSACTIONS AND ARRANGEMENTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed above, no contract, transactions or arrangements of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director or controlling shareholder had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER RULE 13.21 OF CHAPTER 13 OF THE
LISTING RULES

In accordance with the continuing obligations set out in rule 13.21 of
Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules, the following are the details of the loan
agreements with covenants relating to specific performance on the
controlling shareholders of the Company as at the date of this annual
report pursuant to rule 13.18 thereof. There exists no reporting obligation
by the Company under rules 13.17 and 13.19 of the Listing Rules
accordingly:

a)  The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into
on 4 August 2020 (the “Loan Agreement |") for a term and revolving loan
facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$3,350 million with final
maturity date falling five years from the date of the Loan Agreement I.

b)  The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into
on 9 October 2020 (the “Loan Agreement II") for a term and revolving
loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$1,000 million with
final maturity date falling five years from the date of the Loan Agreement
Il.

c)  The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into
on 6 September 2021 (the “Loan Agreement IlI") for a term and revolving
loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$600 million with
final maturity date falling five years from the date of the Loan Agreement
Ml

d)  The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into
on 29 April 2022 (the “Loan Agreement IV") for a term and revolving loan
facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$2,400 million with final
maturity date falling five years from the date of the Loan Agreement IV.

Under the Loan Agreement |, Loan Agreement Il, Loan Agreement Il and
Loan Agreement IV (collectively, the “Loan Agreements”), among others,
an event of default is triggered when the existing largest shareholder of
the Company (together with his associate(s)) holding the largest
shareholding (direct or indirect) in the Company on the date of the
respective Loan Agreements ceases to be the Company's largest
shareholder at any time during the term of the respective Loan
Agreements unless the situation can be remedied within a prescribed
timeframe pursuant to the respective Loan Agreements.
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In the Company’s case, 816,702,249 shares (representing approximately
54.98% of the Company’s issued share capital as at the date of this
annual report) are owned by corporate trustees of certain, but not
identical, discretionary trusts of which members of the classes of
discretionary beneficiaries include the late Dr CHA Chi Ming's issue are
together treated as the existing largest shareholder collectively holding
the largest shareholding in the Company. This has been the continuing
status since the signing of each of the Loan Agreements.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER RULES 13.20 AND 13.22 OF CHAPTER
13 OF THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the requirements of rules 13.20 and 13.22 of Chapter
13 of the Listing Rules, the following were the details of financial
assistances and guarantees given for facilities granted to affiliated
companies of the Company as at 31 March 2023 pursuant to rules 13.13
and 13.16 thereof:

a) On 26 May 2022, the Company and Hysan Development Company
Limited (“Hysan") in proportion to their respective effective shareholding
interests in Gainwick Limited (“Gainwick”), a joint venture formed by the
Company (indirectly owned as to 40%) and Hysan (indirectly owned as
to 60%) for the purpose of a residential property development in Tai Po,
New Territories, have provided Gainwick with HK$1,500.0 million
shareholders’ loan (i.e. the Group's portion is HK$600.0 million) in a form
of interest-free, unsecured with no fixed terms of repayment, for
Gainwick to make a partial repayment to the original lenders of banking
facilities with the maturity date on 26 May 2022. As of 31 March 2023, the
advances which are unsecured and no fixed terms of repayment to
Gainwick from the Group are in a total amount of HK$1,491.9 million
(including the aforesaid HK$600.0 million), in which HK$80.0 million as
working capital loan with an interest rate of 2% per annum over 1-month
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") and the remaining of the
advances is interest free.

In addition, for purpose of provision of mortgage loan financing to the
purchasers of the development, the Group also provided advances to
Gainwick Mortgage Limited (“GML"), which the Group and Hysan hold
indirectly respective 40% and 60% effective shareholding interests. As of
31 March 2023, the Group advanced HKS$27.0 million to GML and the
advances are unsecured with no fixed terms of repayment, and at an
interest rate of 2% per annum over T-month HIBOR.
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On 26 May 2022, the banking facilities granted to Gainwick in the
principal amount HK$5,000.0 million were extended for 18 months with
one of the original lenders of the facilities which the new maturity date is
26 November 2023 and the interest rate is a sum of 0.79% per annum
and HIBOR of relevant interest period (one, two to three months or
subject to availability six months at the selection of Gainwick and
mutually agreed with the financial institution). The Company continues
to provide guarantee as security for Gainwick's obligation under the
banking facilities in proportion to the Company's effective shareholding
interest in Gainwick, i.e. 40%. As of 31 March 2023, the banking facilities
utilised by Gainwick in proportionate of 40% which is secured by
guarantee given by the Company amounted to HK$1,252.0 million.

b) As at 31 March 2023, the Group advanced to Dazhongli Properties
Limited and its subsidiaries ("Dazhongli group”) an aggregate amount of
HK$4,733.1 million. Dazhongli group is engaged in the operation of
investment properties and hotel properties in Jing'an District, Shanghai,
the People’s Republic of China in which the Group has 50% interest. The
advances were provided by the Group in the form of equity and loans in
proportion to its shareholding interest therein, for the purpose of
financing the development expenditure of Dazhongli group. Out of the
advances, HK$292.8 million are unsecured, interest bearing at 1.71% per
annum and repayable in December 2023. Pursuant to the undertaking of
bank loans, Dazhongli group is refraining from settling the loans from
shareholders until the settlement of all bank loans. The remaining of the
advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms
of repayment.

Q) As at 31 March 2023, the Group also advanced to and guarantees
given for other several affiliated companies an aggregate amount of
HKS$768.9 million. The Group has interests ranging from 31% to 50% in
these affiliated companies.

As at 31 March 2023, the aggregate amount of advances provided to
and guarantees given for these affiliated companies by the Group
amounted to HK$8,272.9 million representing 17.6% of the consolidated
total assets of the Group of HK$46,902.4 million as at 31 March 2023.

The financial information of these affiliated companies as at 31 March
2023 are set out in notes 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 177 to 182.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract for the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Company was entered into or
existed during the year.
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Directors” Report

EEEHE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate turnover attributable to the Group’'s five largest customers
was less than 30% of the total value of the Group's turnover.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of the total value of the Group's purchases.

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or shareholders of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the Group's
five largest customers and suppliers.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately HK$1.3 million (2022: approximately HK$1.2
million).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles although
there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of the Cayman
Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to information available to the Company, the percentage of
the Company's shares which are in the hands of the public exceeds 25%
of the Company’s total number of issued shares.
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REVIEW OF THE ANNUAL REPORT BY AUDIT
COMMITTEE

The Group'’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2023 has been
reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Company established in
compliance with rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the relevant provisions
of the CG Code.

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers ("‘PwC") was appointed as the auditor of the
Company at the AGM of the Company held on 20 August 2020 to fill the
vacancy arising from the retirement of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu at the
conclusion of the said AGM of the Company. PwC was further re-
appointed as the auditor of the Company at the AGM held on 24 August
2022.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023
have been audited by PwC. A resolution will be submitted to the 2023
AGM to re-appoint PwC as auditor.

On behalf of the Board
REESE

CHA Mou Zing Victor
Executive Chairman
B

HITFEE

Hong Kong, 21 June 2023
B 2023F 68218
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Corporate Governance Report
SEERBE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES AND
FUNCTIONS

HKR International Limited (the “Company”) together with its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) is committed to good corporate governance
which it believes to be core to the success of its businesses and
operations.

The corporate governance functions are undertaken by the Board of
Directors of the Company (the “Board”), through the Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company as delegated by the Board, as
prescribed by code provision A.2.1 of the Principles of Good Corporate
Governance, Code Provisions and Recommended Best Practices as set
out in Appendix 14, the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”), to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) which are
included in the terms of references of the Board and the Corporate
Governance Committee.

During the year under review, the Company has applied the principles
and fully complied with the code provisions and certain recommended
best practices of the CG Code with more details as set out below.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

COMPANY CULTURE

The Company has a well-established vision, mission and values to drive
its strategy with the principal objective to enhance long-term total
return for all its stakeholders. The vision, mission and core values of the
Company are duly set out in the corporate profile of 2022/2023 annual
report and the website of the Company. To better align the corporate
culture with the vision, mission and values of the Company, the Board
has established Company Culture Policy to set the tone from the top
and shape the desired corporate culture with the core purpose to instil
and continually reinforce across all levels of the Group the values of
acting lawfully, ethically, respectfully, diligently, creatively and
responsibly. The full text of the Company Culture Policy is available on
the website of the Company. Apart from the policy, the Board, led by
example, conducted annual board self-evaluation since the year under
review to enhance Directors’ accountability and ensure the effectiveness
of the Board in monitoring and overseeing the operations and
behaviours of the Company. To ensure the desired culture and expected
behaviours are adequately communicated and understood by
employees, the relevant company culture elements such as integrity,
caring, trust, respect and commitment are incorporated into the annual
individual performance assessment. In addition, through biennial
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employee surveys, employees’ comments or opinions in relation to the
promotion of desired company culture are collected for enhancement
purpose. As an assessment on the effectiveness of the alignment of
company culture, indicators including whistleblowing reported cases,
identified material breach of code of conduct or regulatory requirement,
fraud-related/high risk and employee turnover ratio are set by the Board
and to be reviewed by delegated Board Committees on a regular basis
with any concern to be further reported to the Board and, if required, for
examination.

BOARD COMPOSITION

During the financial year ended 31 March 2023, Mr Benjamin CHA was
appointed and Mr Ronald ARCULLI retired as Non-executive Director
(“‘NED") of the Company with effect from 4 July and 24 August 2022
respectively. In addition, Mr lvan LEE was appointed as Executive Director
("ED") of the Company with effect from 1 December 2022. As at 31 March
2023, the Board comprised thirteen Directors of which five are EDs and
eight are NEDs of whom five and hence, with more than one-third of the
Board, are Independent Non-executive Directors ('INEDs"). Each Director
possesses skills and experience appropriate to the business of the Group
and the biographical details of Directors are duly set out in the section
headed “Board of Directors” on pages 36 to 43 of 2022/2023 annual
report.

Save for Mr Victor CHA, Mr Johnson CHA and Ms Madeline WONG who
are siblings, as well as Mr Benjamin CHA is the son of Mr Victor CHA and
nephew of Mr Johnson CHA and Ms Madeline Wong, all other Directors
have no family relationship with each other.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board has the responsibility for strategic leadership, control and
providing guidance to management to ensure the Company's objectives
are achieved.

Upon appointment to the Board, every Director is given comprehensive
and formal induction documentation of the business operations of the
Group and information for his/her understanding and awareness of his/
her responsibilities as Director under the Listing Rules, legal and other
regulatory and statutory requirements, and briefings with senior
executives and department heads of the Group, if required.

Each Director ensures that he/she can give sufficient time and attention
to the affairs of the Group and has informed the Company in a timely
manner for any change, the number and nature of offices held in public
companies or organisations and other significant commitments. Details
of Directors’ other appointments are shown in the section headed “Board
of Directors” on pages 36 to 43 of 2022/2023 annual report.
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A list of the Directors, their roles and functions and, in particular whether
they are INEDs, is maintained on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange and is updated as and when required.

BOARD PROCESS

The dates of the regular Board meetings in a particular year are
scheduled ahead to give all Directors adequate time to plan their
schedules to attend meetings. There are four regular Board meetings in
a year which are held on a quarterly basis and ad hoc Board meetings
will also be held as and when required. For the year ended 31 March
2023, four Board meetings were held and attendance records of the
Board meetings held during the year are set out in the below paragraph
headed "Attendances of General Meetings, Board and Board Committee
Meetings”.

At least 14 days formal notice would be given before each regular Board
meeting and not less than forty-eight hours' advance notice would also
be given for other Board meetings. All Directors are consulted as to
whether they wish to include any matters in the agenda and the
Chairman of the Board would review and approve the agenda before
the agenda for each Board meeting is issued.

Agendas and accompanying Board papers are sent to all Directors/Board
Committees members at least three days (or such other period as
agreed) before meetings. With the assistance of the EDs, the Chairman of
the Board seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at Board meetings and receive adequate documents and
information about the Group in a timely manner. The Chairman of the
Board, orin his absence, the Deputy Chairman or the Managing Director,
leads meetings and ensures that all key and appropriate issues are
discussed by the Directors in a timely manner. Directors are provided
sufficient time for discussion on issues in the meetings and encouraged
to express their viewpoints on the Board's affairs and voice their
concerns, if any. The Chairman directs discussions in the meetings in
reaching a consensus and consolidates discussions with conclusions.
Minutes of Board/Board Committees meetings record matters
considered and decisions reached. Draft and final signed minutes of
Board/Board Committees meetings are properly kept by the Company
Secretary or respective committee secretary and sent to all Directors for
their comments and records respectively. Directors are entitled to seek
independent professional advice, at the Company's expenses, if he/she
considers necessary in order to perform his/her duties.
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The Chairman of the Board meets at least once annually with the INEDs
without the presence of EDs and NEDs. In March 2023, the Chairman of
the Board met the INEDs without the presence of EDs and NEDs and four
out of five INEDs attended the same.

Where necessary, INEDs meet privately to discuss matters which are their
specific responsibilities. During the year, no such meeting was required
to be held.

BOARD ANNUAL EVALUATION

To ensure independent view and input from Directors are available to
the Board and to drive continuous improvement in board performance,
the Board has adopted the Board Evaluation Framework in September
2022 and it will be reviewed by the Corporate Governance Committee
on an annual basis to ensure its effectiveness. Led by the Chairman,
starting from the year under review, the Board conducted annual board
evaluation in the form of questionnaire and, if required, one-on-one
meeting between the Chairman and individual Director. The primary
goal of the board evaluation is to assess board culture and dynamics,
ensure optimal board composition and improve board practices and
enhance effectiveness. Views of individual Director in respect of board
organisation and functioning, board structure and composition,
shareholders’ communication, company culture, director training,
conflict of interest and overall board effectiveness are collected and
consolidated to be presented to the Board on a no-name basis annually
to assess if there are gaps between where the Board strives to be and
where the Board currently stands, including the reasons for such gaps,
and if considered appropriate, set out an action plan with concrete steps
for mitigating the gaps. For the year under review, the Directors
considered all aspects evaluated are overall effectively performed and
adequate. In addition, for any addition of director, if required, preferable
to be younger, female and independent.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The CG Code requires that the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer should be separated and not be performed by the same
individual to ensure there is a clear division of responsibilities between
the Board and the executives who run the business.

The role of Chairman and Managing Director have been taken up by two
different individuals. Mr Victor CHA is the Chairman and Mr TANG Moon
Wah is the Managing Director of the Company. The respective roles and
responsibilities of Chairman and Managing Director are clearly separated
and set out in writing.
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The Chairman provides leadership to, and oversees the functioning of,
the Board to ensure it acts in the best interests of the Group. With the
support of the Company Secretary and Corporate Governance
Committee, the Chairman is primarily responsible for establishing good
corporate governance practices and procedures of the Company. The
Managing Director, assisted by other EDs and executive management
team, implements the strategies approved by the Board.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (INCLUDING
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS)

NEDs of the Company are appointed with a specific term of three years
which is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election of Directors
under the Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles”). Details
of the mechanism are set out in below paragraph headed “Appointments,
Re-election and Removal”.

The roles and responsibilities of NEDs are clearly set out in writing. They
are not involved in the day-to-day management of the Group's
businesses but participate in Board/Board Committee meetings where
they bring independent views and judgment on issues of strategy,
policy, performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and
standards of conduct of the Group.

INEDs, in particular, will oversee the management and the
implementation of the rules, procedures and plans established by the
Company and help to ensure that the interests of the shareholders as a
whole are taken into account by the Board. Each of the INEDs has
provided to the Company an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers
that all of them continue to be independent with reference to the terms
of guidelines set out in the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

The Articles stipulate that at each annual general meeting ("“AGM") , one-
third of the Directors for the time being, or if their number is not three or
a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-
third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and
any Director appointed by the Directors shall hold office only until the
first AGM of the Company after his/her appointment and be eligible to
offer himself/herself for re-election. Re-election of each eligible Director
is subject to approval by shareholders at the general meeting of the
Company.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors are provided with continuous updates on latest changes or
material development in laws, the Listing Rules, corporate governance
practices relating to the duties and responsibilities of Directors and are
encouraged to participate in continuous professional development
seminars to update their knowledge for discharging directors’
responsibilities.

The Directors, who are in office during the year under review and remain
at the date of this annual report, have participated in the following
various continuous professional development activities in order to
develop and refresh their skills and knowledge. Each Director has
provided his/her training records for the year under review to the
Company with particulars set out as follows:
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Type of training(s)

Name of Director EERE B ER
Victor CHA B A
TANG Moon Wah B w2 A
CHEUNG Ho Koon KOG E A B
Ivan LEE Z= B0 BR A B
NGAN Man Ying AR A
Madeline WONG TEFEE A
Johnson CHA BIHE A B
Benjamin CHA B A
Linus CHEUNG 9K K TR A
Henry FAN BIEER A
Loretta HO (EIR=N=1 A
Barbara SHIU AR B A B
TANG Kwai Chang & AB

Notes:

A. Reading/viewing materials/articles/videos in relation to directors’ duties and
responsibilities as well as the updates, developments and refreshments on regulatory
requirements, environmental, social and governance (“ESG”"), banking, tax, artificial
intelligence, financial technology, business environment, financial compliance, business
continuity planning, risk management and governance.

B. Attending workshops/lectures/seminars/webinar/conferences/forum/training in
relation to the directors’ duties and responsibilities as well as updates and
developments on statutory and regulatory requirements, accounting and auditing
profession, risk management and compliance, mainland China market, board, financial
technology, cyber security, banking, tax, ESG, global business and economic
environments.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has delegated and set out levels of authority and expressed
terms of reference for the Board Committees and reserves the rights to
oversee and decide all other non-delegated matters, in particular, major
acquisitions or disposals and connected transactions. The Board also
delegates certain management and administration functions to the
management as it considers appropriate from time to time, with
directions as to the powers of management, including circumstances
where management shall report to and obtain prior approval from the
Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up the Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee, Corporate Governance Committee and other
committees, namely Finance Committee, Investment/Divestment
Committee, Buy-back, Reissue and Transfer of Shares Committee, Inside
Information Committee and ESG Committee. All committees are entitled
to seek independent professional advice, at the Company’s expenses, if
they consider necessary in order to perform their duties. The Board may
also on a need basis set up special committees with clear terms of
reference to deal with specific transactions or matters of the Company.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee of the Company was established in March
2012 and its terms of reference follow closely the requirements of the CG
Code. The full text of the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee require, inter alia,
that the Nomination Committee comprises not less than three members
with a majority of INEDs and the chairman must be either an INED or the
Chairman of the Board. The Nomination Committee currently comprises
five members, namely Mr Henry FAN, Mr Victor CHA, Ms Madeline
WONG, Ms Loretta HO and Mr TANG Kwai Chang with Mr Henry FAN
acting as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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The principal role and function of the Nomination Committee is to
identify and recommend to the Board suitably qualified persons to
become members of the Board, to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board on a regular basis, as well as to maintain (i) a
policy concerning diversity of Board members (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) and make recommendation to the Board, if required, for
achieving diversity of the Board; and (i) a policy concerning nomination
of Director (the "Director Nomination Policy”).

The Board Diversity Policy was adopted by the Board in March 2013 and
updated in March 2022. Pursuant to the policy, the Nomination
Committee will review the structure, size and composition of the Board
and discuss and agree annually measurable objectives, targets, timeline
and plans, if any, based on rigorous analysis and benchmarking data for
achieving diversity of the Board and recommend them, to the Board for
adoption. The Nomination Committee also monitors the progress and its
policy implementation for annual reporting in the corporate governance
report. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of services. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. The policy will be reviewed by the Nomination Committee on an
annual basis and when required to ensure effectiveness.

The Director Nomination Policy was adopted by the Board in November
2018. Pursuant to the policy, the Nomination Committee will discuss and
consider the nomination of candidates from various sources for new
Directors, examine the qualification of these candidates, and then
recommend such candidates to the Board, which have the final authority
on determining the selection of such candidate to be appointed as a
Director. The major criteria considered by the Nomination Committee
are, inter alia, candidates’ educational backgrounds, experience and
expertise in their chosen industries, their proposed commitment to the
Company and the goal, if any, of diversity of the Board. Regarding the
nomination of INEDs, the Nomination Committee will also particularly
consider the independence of such candidates. The policy will be
reviewed by the Nomination Committee on an annual basis and when
required to ensure effectiveness.
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During the year, the Nomination Committee in the meeting held in
March 2023 has (a) reviewed the retirement of Directors and
recommended to the Board the re-election of Mr Victor CHA (ED), Mr
lvan LEE (ED), Mr Johnson CHA (NED) and Mr TANG Kwai Chang (INED) at
the forthcoming AGM of the Company to be held in August 2023 as well
as noted that Ms Loretta HO (INED), who will retire from office, will not
offer herself for re-election, and accordingly, will also cease as a member
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company with effect from conclusion of the 2023 AGM,; (b) reviewed,
assessed and considered that all INEDs are independent; () reviewed,
assessed and considered the adequacy and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy and Director Nomination Policy; (d) reviewed the
benchmarking data and determined the target number of female
members to be not less than 25% of the Board remains adequate; and (e)
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board, in particular
on gender diversity, during the financial year of 2022/2023 and
considered that the current diversity of the Board, including the proportion
of female directors of the Board (with four out of thirteen as at the date
of the 2022/2023 annual report and to be three out of twelve after the
retirement of Ms Loretta HO) which still meet the target set, is
appropriate and it is not necessary to set out any timeline or plan for
enhancing the diversity of the Board for the financial year of 2023/2024.
However, taking into account the views of Directors according to the
board evaluation results for the year under review, the Nomination
Committee will put particular focus on identifying younger female
independent candidates for joining the Board as when required. The
records of the meeting held by the Nomination Committee during the
year are set out in the below paragraph headed “Attendances of General
Meetings, Board and Board Committee Meetings”.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Company was established in
December 2004 and its terms of reference follow closely the
requirements of the CG Code. The full text of the terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee require, inter
alia, that the Remuneration Committee comprises not less than three
members with a majority of INEDs. The Remuneration Committee
currently comprises three members, namely Mr Linus CHEUNG, Mr Henry
FAN and Mr Victor CHA with Mr Linus CHEUNG acting as the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.

The principal role and function of the Remuneration Committee is to
exercise the powers of the Board to review and determine the
remuneration and packages of individual EDs and senior management,
including salaries, bonuses, benefits in kind, share options and other
plans. Factors such as remuneration paid for comparable positions, time
commitment and responsibilities of the EDs and senior management as
well as the Company’s remuneration policy will be considered. More
information in relation to the Directors’ remuneration policy of the
Company can refer to the below paragraph headed “Directors’
Remuneration”.

During the year, no Remuneration Committee meeting was held but the
Remuneration Committee reviewed and approved by electronic
circulation the proposals of (a) additional bonus payment to EDs for the
financial year of 2021/2022 based on the audited account; (b)
remuneration of a newly appointed ED; (c) bonus payment for EDs for
the financial year of 2022/2023; (d) further salary review for the financial
year of 2023/2024, including EDs; and (e) remuneration of an ED whose
employment was extended upon reaching retirement age. The records
of circulated electronic communication of the Remuneration Committee
during the year are duly set out in the below paragraph headed
“Attendances of General Meetings, Board and Board Committee
Meetings”.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company was established in July 1998 and
its terms of reference follow closely the requirements of the CG Code.
The full text of the terms of reference of the Audit Committee is available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee require, inter alia, that
the Audit Committee comprises not less than three members who are
NEDs and a majority of them must be INEDs of the Company. The Audit
Committee currently comprises four members, namely Mr TANG Kwai
Chang, Mr Linus CHEUNG, Ms Loretta HO and Ms Barbara SHIU with Mr
TANG Kwai Chang leading the Audit Committee as the chairman.

The principal role and function of the Audit Committee is to assist the
Board in (i) meeting its responsibilities for ensuring an effective system of
risk management and internal controls and compliance; (ii) meeting its
external financial reporting objectives; and (iii) maintaining the
Whistleblowing Policy and Anti-Fraud Policy, both were newly
established in 2022.

During the year, three Audit Committee meetings were held, of which
two meetings were held with the Independent Auditor together with
senior management and has (a) reviewed and received the audit
strategy memorandums for the audit of the financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2023; (b) considered the
Independent Auditor’s projected audit and non-audit services fees; (c)
reviewed the independence of the Independent Auditor, the nature and
scope of the audit as well as recommended the re-appointment of
Independent Auditor after considering the matters set out in the
guideline of Accounting and Financial Reporting Council; and (d)
reviewed and discussed the interim and final financial statements and
the Independent Auditor’s review and report for the Board's approval. In
these two meetings, the Audit Committee also met with the head of the
Internal Audit Department of the Company to receive their work plan
and, review and discuss on their findings and rectification actions taken
by the business units. In addition, the Audit Committee had met with
senior management in another meeting to review and receive the risk
management report in evaluating the effectiveness of the risk
management system of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2022.
The records of the meeting held by the Audit Committee during the
year are set out in the below paragraph headed “Attendances of General
Meetings, Board and Board Committee Meetings”.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Corporate Governance Committee was established in September
2018 for the purpose of enhancing and ensuring that the Company
maintains a high standard of corporate governance. lts terms of
reference follow closely the requirements of the CG Code. The full text of
the terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee is
available on the website of the Company.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee require,
inter alia, comprises not less than three members with majority of them
must be NEDs (including INEDs) of the Company. The Corporate
Governance Committee currently comprises four members, namely Ms
Madeline WONG, Mr Victor CHA, Mr Henry FAN and Mr TANG Kwai
Chang with Ms Madeline WONG leading the Corporate Governance
Committee as the chairman.

The principal role and function of the Corporate Governance Committee
is to assist the Board and the Chairman in developing, reviewing and
monitoring the Company's policies and practices on corporate
governance to ensure their compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements.

During the year, the Corporate Governance Committee held a meeting
in March 2023 and through an electronic communication have (a)
reviewed the corporate governance report to be incorporated in the
annual report of 2021/2022; (b) received and reviewed the training
records of all Directors for the financial year of 2021/2022; (c) reviewed all
the key Company’s policies and practices, among others, the Company
Culture Policy, Shareholders” Communication Policy, Board Evaluation
Framework, code of conduct for Directors and employees as well as
terms of reference of officers and respective Board Committees and
considered all of them remain adequate and effective. The records of the
meeting held by the Corporate Governance Committee and circulated
electronic communication during the year are set out in the below
paragraph headed “Attendances of General Meetings, Board and Board
Committee Meetings”.
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ATTENDANCES OF GENERAL MEETINGS, BREAE EESENEES
BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS ZTEES2S2Z 2 HEXR
Directors’ attendances in the general meetings and the meetings of the R EBEE AN RITZREASNEET2
Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination B ZE@ - FHMETE@ - IEELZTEe@ kD
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee held during the year ¥ E A EZB@@Z 2 =S HEXEHMNNOT
under review are set out below:
Corporate
Governance
Remuneration Committee AGM
Audit Committee Nomination meeting/ held on
Board Committee circulated Committee circulated 24 August
meeting meeting communication meeting communication 2022
EEg ENZEY FMEEE RRZEY LEERZEE® M2022F8H24A
Name of director BEEn -4 -f BB 8% CR/EHEN ZTZREEE
Victor CHA™* B 4/4 - 4/4 1/1 22 v
TANG Moon Wah B EE 4/4 _ _ _ _ /
CHEUNG Ho Koon RIHE 4/4 - - - - v
Ivan LEE LB 11 - - - - -
NGAN Man Ying BN 4/4 - - - - v
Madeline WONG®* FTEEES 4/4 - - 1/1 22 v
Jonhson CHA BEE 4/4 - _ _ _ X
Benjamin CHA" BRP" 3/3 - - - - X
Linus CHEUNG* %Eﬂ<”'“*’* 4/4 33 4/4 - - v
Henry FAN‘e* B e 4/4 - 4/4 1 22 v/
Loretta HO*® ﬂ mae 4/4 3/3 - Wl - v
Barbara SHIU* =R 4/4 33 - - - v/
TANG Kwai Chang*e* HEge 4/4 3/3 - 1/1 2/2 v
Notes: B E
* members of Audit Committee * EBEZREZBEKE
# members of Remuneration Committee ! FTMEZEBEEKE
e members of Nomination Committee e REEZBEKE
- members of Corporate Governance Committee * TEERLZE®KE
3 appointed as Director on 1 December 2022 o R20NFENA'BEZTAES
8 appointed as Director on 4 July 2022 ! R2002F7R4REZTERES
Chairman of the Company and chairman of each of the Audit 2N 2 & & & A &%V? BEg HWEZET-

Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and
Corporate Governance Committee and representative of Independent
Auditor were all present at the 2022 AGM and available to answer

questions from shareholders.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the preparation
of accounts for financial year which is required to give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group, its results and
the cash flows for the Group. For preparation of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023, the Directors
selected appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimations that are prudent and reasonable, and
prepared accounts on a going concern basis. The statement of the
Company's Independent Auditor about their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2023 is contained in the Independent Auditor's report of
2022/2023 annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has an overall responsibility for evaluating and providing
direction to the Company on the nature and extent of the risks that shall
be taken in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring
that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and effective
systems of risk management and internal controls, which include
financial, operational and compliance controls.

The main features of the risk management and internal control systems
are to provide a clear governance structure, policies and procedures, as
well as a reporting mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage its risks
across business operations. Key policies and procedures have been
developed, implemented and communicated to staff as well as regularly
reviewed to ensure that there are continued relevant and effective risk
management and internal control systems and for continuous
improvement which include (a) setting core values and beliefs which
form the basis of the Group’s overall risk philosophy and appetite; (b)
having an organisational structure in place with defined lines of
responsibility and delegation of authority which hold individuals
accountable for their risk management and internal control
responsibilities and provides necessary information flow for risk analysis
and management decision-making on an on-going basis; (c) imposing
budgetary and management accounting controls to efficiently allocate
resources and providing timely financial and operational performance
indicators to manage business activities and risks; (d) ensuring effective
financial reporting control to record complete, accurate and timely
accounting and management information; and (e) having structural
internal audit function to perform independent appraisal of business
units and corporate functions on an on-going and cyclical basis.
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The Board has delegated responsibility to the Audit Committee for
providing oversight in respect of risk management and internal control
activities. The Audit Committee discusses the risk management and
internal control systems with management for the year under review to
ensure that management has performed its duty to have an effective risk
management and internal control systems. Discussion covers areas, inter
alia, the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programme and budget (collectively, “Resources”) of the
Company's accounting and financial reporting functions.

To assist the Board and the Audit Committee in overseeing the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, the Internal
Audit Department is responsible for performing independent reviews on
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s systems of internal
controls and risk management and reporting audit findings to the Audit
Committee and the Board regularly. An Internal Audit Charter, which was
adopted in 2008, formulates the processes and procedures of internal
audit function for strengthening the control framework. The Audit
Committee also separately consults with the Internal Audit Department
in respect of the adequacy of Resources of the Company’s internal audit
function.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The successful management of risks is essential for the long-term growth
and sustainability of the Group’s business. To ensure risk management of
the Group is integrated into the day-to-day operation of the Group and
is continuously carried out at all levels of the Group, the Company has
established a risk governance and management framework and
governance structure which consists of the Board, the Audit Committee,
risk management steering group and business lines to facilitate a
systematic approach to the management of risks within the Group.

The following diagram illustrates the Group's risk governance and
management framework:
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Board of Directors

evaluate and provide direction to the Company on the nature and
extent of the risks that shall be taken in achieving the Company’s
strategic objectives

ensure that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and
effective systems of risk management and internal controls

Audit Committee

oversee management in design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems

review, at least annually, the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group with the support of Internal Audit Department
to ascertain whether management has fulfilled its responsibilities in
establishing and maintaining effective systems

review risk assessment results, including changes in the nature and
extent of significant risks since the last review and the Group's ability
to respond to changes in its business and the external environment
consider major investigation findings on risk management and
internal control matters and management’s response to these findings
identify any significant risks that should be brought to the attention of
the Board

review and consider enhancement to the risk management and
internal control systems as proposed by the risk management steering
group and/or the Internal Audit Department

Risk Management Steering Group

establish and maintain risk management infrastructure and
recommend change as appropriate

conduct, at least annually, risk identification and assessment on group-
wide basis

escalate risk and control issues on a timely manner as appropriate
ensure business lines conducting risk assessment and controlling self-
assessment within their business units/departments on a regular basis
provide assurance on the effectiveness of the risk management and
control systems of the Group to the Audit Committee and the Board

Business Lines

manage risks within their business units/departments

identify and evaluate risks potentially impact the achievement of
business objectives within their business units/departments

mitigate and monitor risks identified in day-to-day operation

conduct risk assessment and control self-assessment on regular basis

Internal Audit Department

perform audits to evaluate the proper functioning of the risk
management and internal control systems

report findings to the Audit Committee and provide the Committee
with an independent and objective assurance on the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
propose any enhancement to the risk management and internal
control systems for consideration by the Audit Committee and the risk
management steering group
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The Company has also formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy
in providing directions in identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks. At least on an annual basis, the risk management
steering group, which comprises the heads of all business units and
corporate functions, collects and collates risk information from business
lines, identifies risks (including ESG-related risks), on a group-wide basis,
that would adversely affect the achievement of the Group's objectives,
and assesses and prioritises the identified risks according to a set of
standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans are established and risk owners
are also assigned to closely monitor those risks which are considered to
be significant on an on-going basis and implement the mitigation plans.
The identified risks which are considered to be significant to the Group,
including their changes in nature and extent since the last review, and
the relevant mitigation plans for the year under review have been
presented and accepted by the Audit Committee and the Board in April
and June 2023 respectively.

The Internal Audit Department acts as an independent assessor as
another line of defence on risk management system. It conducts
independent review and assesses, at least on an annual basis, if all the
key risks are properly identified and evaluated in accordance with the
Risk Management Policy and whether the existing risk controls are
operating effectively. A control self-assessment process was also
established which requires risk owners to assess, through questionnaire,
the adequacy and effectiveness of risk controls over the areas under their
responsibilities. The process and its results were reviewed by the Internal
Audit Department and form part of the Audit Committee’s annual
assessment of control effectiveness.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

In addition to the independent assessment of the risk management
system, during the year, the Internal Audit Department also carried out
audits on the (a) operation of the Leasing Department; (b) marketing
function of Discovery Bay; (c) operation of and ad hoc review for HKRI
Taikoo Hui; (d) operation of Lantau Yacht Club; (e) voting mechanism
and arrangement in 2022 AGM of the Company; (f) whistleblowing cases
received; and the reviews on the other business units with audit follow-
up. With the implementation of follow-up measures after the audits, the
areas with irregularities has gradually improved. Findings on the audits,
control weaknesses, if any, and the relevant recommendations have
been presented to and accepted by the Audit Committee and the Board
in November 2022 and June 2023.
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The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. The Board, through the works of
the Audit Committee, risk management steering group and the Internal
Audit Department, has conducted an annual review on the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2023 and considers that the Group's risk
management and internal control systems for the year were effective
and adequate. Management of the Group has also provided
confirmation to the Audit Committee and the Board on the effectiveness
of such systems for the year under review.

HANDLING OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”") and the Listing Rules. A Disclosure of Inside
Information Policy has been established by the Company to set out the
procedures on reporting the likely inside information to ensure that
potential price sensitive or inside information of the Group can be
promptly identified, assessed and escalated for disseminating to the
public. The Company discloses inside information to the public as soon
as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any of the “Safe
Harbours” as provided in the SFO. Before the information is fully
disclosed to the public, the Company will ensure that the information is
kept strictly confidential. If the Company believes that the necessary
degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality
may have been breached, the Company will immediately disclose the
information to the public. The Company is committed to ensure that
information contained in announcements are not false or misleading as
to any material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of any
material fact in view of presenting information in a clear and balanced
way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company strives to maintain a stable dividend to shareholders and
has adopted a dividend policy (the “Policy”). Pursuant to the Policy, the
declaration or recommendation of dividends is subject to the sole
discretion of the Board. The Board shall consider the following factors
before declaring or recommending dividends:

° the Company's actual and expected financial performance;

° shareholders’ interests;

° the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

° the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and
the relevant financial covenants;

° any restriction on payment of dividends that may by imposed by
the Group's lenders;

° the Group's expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plan;

° general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's
motion control business or financial performance and position of

the Company;
° taxation considerations;
° statutory and regulatory restrictions; and

° any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The Board, through the Corporate Governance Committee, will
continually review the Policy, and reserve the right in its sole absolute
discretion to update, amend and/or modify the Policy at any time, and
the Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by
the Company in respect of its future dividend and/or in no way obligate
the Company to declare dividend at any time or from time to time.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE ESG REPORTING
GUIDE

The Group has complied with the ESG Reporting Guide of the Stock
Exchange and has released its standalone ESG Report for the year ended
31 March 2023 online at the same time with the publication of
2022/2023 annual report, which captures in detail the Group's ESG-
related initiatives, policies and performance in Hong Kong, mainland
China and Thailand throughout the financial year.
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https://www.hkri.com/-/media/hkri/documents/esg-report/esg-report-2022-2023.pdf?la=zh-tw&hash=DE2DEBC06C9BC7ADC5E5BEBCB153BA6B63EE673E
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WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

The Company strives to maintain gender-balanced workforce and
considers capability is more important than gender. Except for the
general staff level which has a relatively more male than female due to
the nature of works and the workforce availability in the market for
transportation industry sector such as crew, technician, engineer and
bus captain, the Company maintains a relatively balanced gender ratio
across the workforce and it is considered not necessary to set out any
plan or measurable objectives for enhancing workforce diversity for the
financial year of 2023/2024. Detail of the gender ratio in different level of
workforce for the year under review can refer to the ESG Report
published at the same time with the 2022/2023 annual report.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration (save for directors’ fees which are subject to
shareholders’ approval at general meeting) is determined with reference
to prevailing market situation, their respective duties and responsibilities
and the Group'’s remuneration policy. Under the terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee, the Remuneration Committee should
make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy and it
has the delegated responsibilities to determine the remuneration of the
EDs. In general, the EDs under the remuneration policy are entitled to (i)
basic salary which will be reviewed on an annual basis by making
reference to remuneration survey conducted by independent external
consultant on companies operating in similar businesses; (ii)
discretionary bonus which are subject to the ED's and the Company’s
performance; and (jii) contribution to retirement schemes and other
fringe benefits.

The Chairman, who is a member of the Remuneration Committee, is
involved in recommending proposals on the remuneration of other EDs
for due consideration and approval by the Remuneration Committee.
However, he abstains from discussion and voting when his remuneration
is reviewed and considered by the Remuneration Committee. No
Director will participate in the discussion and review of his/her own
remuneration under the remuneration policy.

ETI %

KRR ARGEHBE T HERLLG FE TRAE
BENLLERFEAEE - REBAFMELIM
EOERIEHEREBEHTEMBEH L
HEBR(FIOME  FMMAB  TRAIRE
) BUHEBTHEZRZM BRI K
DREERFHEEFEZE TR TRA
F20232024 B F E B A LT M BEBIRS
BIZb KFEZFHEIKARFERZ - B
OEEERRMBE T ZERILL B 2 #1E
A 2 B 822022/2023F A — B B M4 2 OR

= LS TO A A ER A
B -HEREBBRE)-

EEFHM

EETM(EEERRRRAGLHEZES
WERINTIZ2EERDR BEZTA BB
EBE URKEZHFMERMETE - RiF
VFZEecBESRE FHEZESRLE
MHRRANEFSRIEZS TEREAAE
THREZHFHMEE —RME - RIRFH B
R HEARBROEAFHH E82EE
SMEPEEM B B BURK Z A RET 2 FH M
HEGFELHREN  WRRERRNQRFTRA
E Rz BBIEAL : M) RIKEH B R B
L Bt 75 48 ) o

ITR(ERESFMEZESGKE) R E M
B BRMER UHFEMEE SR
BEEBERME RN RFEMZBESEH
REBEFMGTER  RAAKEL2ET®
RER - BEEEREFHERRKH S LT H
REBEREART ZFHB -

ERRAREREEERAT 2022/2023 ¥ 85


https://www.hkri.com/-/media/hkri/documents/esg-report/esg-report-2022-2023.pdf?la=zh-tw&hash=DE2DEBC06C9BC7ADC5E5BEBCB153BA6B63EE673E
https://www.hkri.com/-/media/hkri/documents/esg-report/esg-report-2022-2023.pdf?la=zh-tw&hash=DE2DEBC06C9BC7ADC5E5BEBCB153BA6B63EE673E
https://www.hkri.com/-/media/hkri/documents/esg-report/esg-report-2022-2023.pdf?la=en&hash=D453260151FA8719BF4AF358DA83960A158BE720

Corporate Governance Report
ERERRE

The remuneration of NEDs is in the form of annual directors’ fee. To
ensure that NEDs are appropriately remunerated for their time and
responsibilities devoted to the Company, the Remuneration Committee
will periodically review and consider the factors including fees paid by
comparable companies, time commitment, responsibilities in the
Company and the prevailing market situation, and make
recommendation for the approval of the Board pursuant to the authority
given by the shareholders at general meeting from time to time.
Currently, a sum of HK$100,000 per annum being the basic fee for acting
as a NED, additional fee of HK$100,000 per annum will be paid to each
member, who is NED, of each of the Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company and additional fee of HK$150,000 per annum will be paid to
each member, who is NED, of the Audit Committee. An additional fee of
HKS$50,000 will also be paid to each INED having a seat in any
independent board committee which is required to be set up from time
to time under the Listing Rules.

All Directors are also eligible to be granted of share options under the
Company's approved share option schemes. Each grant to Directors is
subject to the approvals of the Remuneration Committee, INEDs and the
Board having regard to their respective role and responsibilities as well
as the prevailing market situation.

Remuneration details of the Directors (on individual name basis) for the
year ended 31 March 2023 are disclosed in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 166 to 168 of 2022/2023 annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION AND AUDITOR
RELATED MATTERS

PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC’) is the Independent Auditor of the
Company. The remuneration for audit services provided by PwC to the
Group for the year under review amounted to approximately HK$8.5
million. In addition to the audit fee, the Company had appointed PwC
for the interim results review and the other non-audit advisory services
in respect of accounting system migration, major transaction and
corporate governance, remuneration of which amounted to
approximately HK$3.1 million for the year under review.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
(including amendments as effected from time to time) as its own code
of conduct to regulate securities transactions by Directors (the “Model
Code”). All Directors, who in office during the financial year ended 31
March 2023 and remain at the date of this annual report, have confirmed,
following specific enquiry by the Company, that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year
from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 (both days inclusive). The Model
Code has been extended to and has become equally applicable to
dealings in the securities of the Company by senior management and
relevant employees.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is an employee of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affair. During the year
ended 31 March 2023, she has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in accordance with rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and
will continue to comply with such requirement for the year ending 31
March 2024 and report regularly.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Pursuant to article 72 of the Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall
also be convened by the written requisition of any one or more
shareholder(s) of the Company holding together, as at the date of
deposit of the requisition, shares representing not less than one-tenth of
the voting rights of the Company which carry the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. Shareholders wishing to do so must
serve a duly executed written requisition to the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong at 23/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun
Tak Centre, 168- 200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong (the “Principal
Place of Business”) specifying the object(s) of the meeting and the
resolutions to be added to the meeting agenda. If the Directors do not
within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed to
duly convene the meeting to be held within a further 21 days, such
shareholder(s) may convene a physical general meeting at only one
location, provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after
the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the
requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by such shareholder(s)
as a result of the failure of the Directors to convene the meeting shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.
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In addition, any shareholder (other than the person to be proposed) may
nominate a person to stand for election as Director at the general
meeting in accordance with article 120 of the Articles. Any shareholder
wishing to do so must serve (a) a written notice of intention to propose
such person for election as Director; (b) a notice executed by that person
of his/her willingness to be elected; and (c) the information of that
person as required to be disclosed under rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules to the Principal Place of Business between the period, which shall
be at least 3 days, commencing from the date after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and ending
on (and excluding) the date that is ten clear business days prior to the
date of such general meeting. The Company shall issue an
announcement and/or a supplementary circular, if applicable, to inform
the shareholders the biographical details of the candidate proposed if a
valid notice to propose a person to stand for election as Director is
received.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company is committed to promoting and maintaining effective
communication with the shareholders and other stakeholders. A
Shareholders” Communication Policy has been adopted by the Board
which sets out the Company's policy for maintaining an on-going
dialogue with shareholders and investment community. Full text of the
Shareholders" Communication Policy is available on the website of the
Company and the same is subject to regular review by the Corporate
Governance Committee to ensure its effectiveness. In view of the below
stakeholders’ activities conducted by the Company, the Shareholders’
Communication Policy is considered effectively implemented during the
year under review.

The Company’s 2022 AGM, for which at least 21 days' prior notice is
given, was held on 24 August 2022 and is one of the Company’s
principal channels of communication with its shareholders for each year.
Shareholders have the opportunity to communicate face to face with
the Directors if they have any questions on the Company’s performance
and operations. In addition to the AGM, extensive information on the
Company'’s activities in respect of its financial, business and operations is
provided by way of announcements, annual and interim reports,
circulars, ESG Report, relevant policies and procedures such as
Shareholders” Communication Policy, Whistleblowing Policy and Anti-
Fraud Policy, etc,, as well as various corporate news and information are
sent to shareholders and/or available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. Investor/analysis briefing, site visit, media
interviews, marketing activities for investors are also available from time
to time in order to facilitate communications between the Company,
shareholders and the investment community. During the year, there
were over ten meetings, site visit(s) and media interviews conducted for
sharing and exchanging views between the Company and various
stakeholders.
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Shareholders may also send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary is
responsible for forwarding communications relating to matters within
the Board's direct responsibilities to the Board and communications
relating to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, inquiries and
customers concerns, to the relevant executive officers of the Company
under the direction of the Chairman of the Board and/or Managing
Director of the Company. While other investors and stakeholders may
send their enquiries to the Company’s investor relations officer. During
the year, the Company has fully responded to all the legitimate enquiries
through the above channels. The contact details of both Company
Secretary and investor relations officer of the Company are set out in the
Shareholders” Communication Policy.

As one of the important stakeholders, employees’ view on the elements
in relation to company culture such as working environment, benefits,
relations and engagement, training and development, talent retention
and management style, etc,, are also collected through employee survey
conducted biennially. The first employee survey was conducted in 2022.
With the valuable feedbacks and opinions from employees, the
Company’s focus and priority on employee engagements can be set
more precisely for enhancing the identified areas.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

At the AGM of the Company held on 24 August 2022, a special resolution
was passed by the shareholders of the Company approving certain
amendments to the Company's memorandum and articles of association
("M&A") to (i) conform the M&A with the core shareholder protection
standards set out in Appendix 3 of Listing Rules; and (ii) make other
amendments for house-keeping purposes to better align the M&A with
the provisions of the Listing Rules and the applicable laws of the Cayman
Islands. Details of the amendments were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 29 June 2022 and circular dated 19 July 2022. The
amended M&A is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.

BRRTAGHEALEIZTBRFTETAAMW
EUNEXREFE -RRAWEABILAH
HEFSEXREFEZBBAREBETE
EE VRARFEFEIRR/AEFAK
BRI EARBERXBEEZABAE
WmEZE ERANEPZBIEES B&ET
ARBZBBITHRAR HWEREE MFNH
EARAARBNKREERARIERLESR -
FRA ARFICEELCEMAERB LIRS
REZEESH ARAZABAWERKE
ERREIECHBAFROCHRNBKRBAK
RA -

FREERNEZ— BEHITHERE
MBEEREk2E BIRER ATBER
EERRELEXETREZER TBBET
BMFE-XRZBREAETUNRE - ARFR
NFETERNEREAE - HESEE 2R
BERERBR®R ARAAERBEMWETE
BEHRARZEAHREMEBIEH RELRE
BrEHE FEUARECD IR 2HE -

BEXH

MR2002F8HU4B BT ARRIKRRFEE L
AARREBB -—BEFIAZR #HEHR
NRBERRAAMASEREMAN(EREX
MEEADEREFTE]  LWOEERZRE R
MBI A EMBAMS ZFr#E 2 %0 R
REKFE: R()AEIEEB KM EDHEMIER
LA 25 32 K48 J2 48 A B2 _E 77 48 A &9 3R E A0 5
ERENERLZEER B - BHEBIINEF
BHERARTEHA202F6 A28 2 AE R
HEIA2022F7 A198 2@ K - &IEFTHER
RN K BRI A] A B ST P R AN A B AU &R o

ERRAREREEFRAT 2022/2023 £ 89



Financial Highlights

P HE

2023 2022

For the year ended 31 March BZE3AMBLEE HK$'M HKS'M

Results E BEABT BEAT

.

Revenue from continuing operations BEKGEEBRA 1,693.7 41679
Profit attributable to owners RNATER AEAS =T

of the Company 455.6 1,097.3

Basic earnings per share arising from REFBBEREKRIEEEEBL 2

continuing and discontinued BREARRBF CEAW)

operations (HK cents) 30.7 739

1

2023 2022

At 31 March MA3A31H HK$'M HKS'M

Financial Position B 3 iR R BEAT BEAT

.

Total assets BE®RE 46,902.4 43,4075

Total liabilities BEERE 19,631.5 154612
Equity attributable to owners of the KARER ANEMLER

Company 24,397.9 25,0269

Net asset value per share (HKS) BREEFEGET) 16.4 16.8

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE (HKS)

BREEFE (Br)

-,

20
168
. 16.4

5 143 14.9
10
5
0

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

At 31 March A3 A31H
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Financial Review

i JE)

OVERALL RESULTS
RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS

HKR International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries’
(collectively, the “Group”) revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023
("FY2023") amounted to HK$1,693.7 million, decreased by 59.4% from
HKS$4,167.9 million in the last year. As a result, the Group's underlying
profit excluding net unrealised losses on fair value change of investment
properties of HK$495.6 million accordingly declined by 48.4% from
HK$960.4 million in the last year. Such decline is primarily owing to: (i)
decrease in the Group's revenue and profit from sale of properties as the
pace of property sales in Hong Kong has slowed down considerably
during the year while property sales launch of Starlight One, a project in
Jiaxing, the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") was rescheduled to March
2023 for capturing the reviving market sentiment leading to the
deferment in profit recognition of sales from FY2023 to next financial
year; and (i) rising interest rates leading to increase in the Group's
finance costs.

With the net unrealised losses on fair value change of investment
properties included, the profit attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to HK$455.6 million, decreased by 58.5% from HK$1,097.3
million in the last year. Basic earnings per share were HK30.7 cents for
the FY2023, compared to HK73.9 cents for the last year.

SEGMENT RESULT ANALYSIS

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

During the FY2023, the Group recognised a segment revenue of
HKS$274.3 million (2022: HK$2,963.2 million) and segment profit of
HKS$213.2 million (2022: HK$450.1 million) from property sales and other
services rendered in Hong Kong and mainland China. The drastic decline
in the Group's revenue and segment net profit were largely attributed to
the slow-down in pace of property sales in Hong Kong and reschedule
of sales launch of Starlight One, a project in Jiaxing, the PRC to March
2023 for capturing the reviving market sentiment leading to the
deferment in profit recognition of sales from FY2023 to next financial
year. Impact of the aforesaid factors affecting the property sales was
mitigated by the Group's disposal of 49% interest in Wireless Road, a
joint venture project in Thailand, generating a net disposal gain of
HKS$368.0 million and a cash proceeds of HK$705.2 million, providing
with the Group financial resources for replenishing land reserves.

As of 31 March 2023, the Group has HK$2,262.2 million contracted but
unrecognised property sales.
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Financial Review

i A

PROPERTY INVESTMENT

The Group recorded segment revenue of HK$585.3 million (2022:
HK$500.3 million) and segment profit of HK$605.4 million (2022:
HK$920.7 million) for the FY2023. Decrease in segment profit was
however attributable to: (i) decline in disposal profit contributions from
Japan for two investment properties were disposed in the FY2023 as
compared with three major investment properties disposed in the
preceding year; and (i) decrease in the Group's share of results of HKRI
Taikoo Hui ("HTH") due to the city-wide lockdown in Shanghai during the
second quarter of 2022 which had caused occupancy drop in HTH's
hotels and serviced apartment.

TRANSPORTATION SERVICES AND PROPERTY
MANAGEMENT

The segment recorded revenue of HK$270.8 million (2022: HK$224.1
million) and profit of HK$53.9 million (2022: HKS$37.5 million) for the
FY2023. Following the removal of social distancing measures, basic
demand and usage for ferry and bus services in Discovery Bay have been
recovering steadily thereby improving the operating environment. On
top of this the bus fare adjustment implemented in July 2022 boosted
the segment revenue providing relief against high fuel costs and
increasing staff costs.

Property management services continued to provide a stable
contribution to both revenue and net profit of the Group for the year.

HOTEL OPERATIONS

The segment recorded revenue of HK$274.7 million (2022: HK$218.4
million) and loss of HK$4.4 million (2022: HK$31.3 million) for the FY2023.
With the gradual recovery of tourism in Thailand, The Sukhothai
Bangkok's operating performance has embarked on a recovery trajectory
since the third quarter of 2022 but is yet to revert to pre-pandemic level.
With the re-opening of borders and removal of social distancing
measures, Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong maintained satisfactory
room occupancy and captured the revived demand for corporate events
and wedding banquets, and attained better performance versus that of
the preceding year.
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LEISURE BUSINESSES

The segment including mainly Discovery Bay Recreation Club, Club
Siena, Discovery Bay Golf Club ("DBGC"), Lantau Yacht Club (“LYC"), DB
Ice Rink and Peony Chinese Restaurant. The segment recorded revenue
of HK$288.6 million (2022: HK$261.9 million) and profit of HK$2.7 million
(2022: loss of HKS$5.7 million) for the FY2023. During the year, LYC
experienced a growth in membership and marina facilities revenue
despite the pandemic while DBGC recorded a higher level of incomes
from usage of club facilities and food and beverage. Performance of
other operating units have been improving with the easing of social
distancing measures.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

NET DEBT AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As of 31 March 2023, the Group had total bank balances and cash of
HKS6,212.6 million (2022: HK$2,717.7 million) and a net debt of
HKS$5,366.5 million (2022: HKS 7,937.7 million) after deducting total bank
borrowings and other loans of HK$11,579.1 million (2022: HK$10,655.4
million).

As of 31 March 2023, about 18% of the Group'’s bank balance and cash
were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, 68% in Renminbi, 3% in US
dollars, 8% in Japanese Yen and the remaining were mainly in Singapore
dollars and Thai Baht.

As of 31 March 2023, the Group’s debt portfolio comprised of primarily
bilateral and syndicated bank loans to finance its general working capital
and the development projects. The unlisted notes of HK$300 million was
issued under Medium Term Note programme in May 2021.

The maturity profile of bank borrowings and other loans were 19.8% (2022:
22.4%) falling within one year, 34.2% (2022: 30.4%) falling between one
and two years, 43.4% (2022: 44.4%) falling between two and five years
and 2.6% (2022: 2.8%) falling over 5 years.

As of 31 March 2023, all bank borrowing and other loans were on
floating rate basis whereas the unlisted notes were at fixed coupon rate.
About 92% of the Group’s total bank borrowings and other loans were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and the remaining were in Renminbi.
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Financial Review

i A

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUND AND GEARING

As of 31 March 2023, the shareholders’ funds of the Group decreased by
HK$629.0 million to HK$24,397.9 million (2022: HK$25,026.9 million).

The Group's gearing ratio was 22.0% (2022: 31.7%) as calculated by the
Group's consolidated net borrowings to the shareholders’ funds as of 31
March 2023. The consolidated net borrowings included bank balances
and cash of HK$1,206.6 million, being the over subscription monies
received from property buyers which have been refunded in April 2023.
If these amounts were excluded, the gearing ratio would be 26.9%.

AVAILABILITY OF FACILITIES

Total available loan facilities as of 31 March 2023 were HK$17,523.8
million (2022: HK$14,638.6 million), of which 88.6% were committed.

As of 31 March 2023, the unutilised credit facilities were approximately
HK$5,918.2 million (2022: HKS$3,956.2 million). The Group closely
monitors its liquidity requirements and arranges financing for its
development projects and operations as and when appropriate.

During the FY2023, the average financing cost was at 3.3% per annum as
compared to 1.1% per annum in the preceding year.

With the unutilised loan facilities, cash on hand and expected cash flows
from operations, the Group has sufficient financial resources to fund its
current commitments and future potential investment opportunities
ahead.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has centralised treasury functions and adopted a conservative
approach for its treasury management. The Group closely reviews and
monitors its foreign currency exposure. To manage foreign currency
exposure in certain overseas investments, the Group maintains certain
naturally hedged positions and will make any swap or future
arrangements as appropriate. The Group’s banking facilities are
principally on floating rate basis and interest rate swaps will be employed
to manage interest rate risk for its short- to medium-term borrowings
when appropriate and necessary.

The use of derivative financial instruments is strictly controlled and are
primarily used for management of interest rate and currency exposures.
It is the policy of the Group to restrict the use of financial derivatives for
speculative purpose.

94 HKR International Limited Annual Report 2022/2023

RREEREFBB/LER

MR2023F3A3H  EEZREE £ R L6290
BEBITE2439798 88 7T (20226 © 250269
BEEL)

202343 A31H h? BEir & B EFERKRU
BRECTEZ éﬁ%%tfﬁn%
(2022¢'317%)°i?é1§é‘¥%ﬁfe%fﬁﬁ
BRI 120066BR BT IRBYWEERMN

WENH BB RERIE  ZFRNIEE R2023F
AFEE - MR ZERE  BREBELERA
26.9% ©

BREE

R2023F3A3H EBEZHEREREEA
17,5238 F & 78 7T (20224F : 146386 @ 878 JT)
Hhggew B AL ZE5 -

MR2023F3A31H  REA 22 B84 559182

BEBITQ22F 3% 2AEBT)  £E@H
PERETHELTT K TEBAERFIEAEE

FRIEBLEERHRE -

R20238F - PR BE R AR BF M K33% -
E—FERFMEII%-

BREADHEZRRE BHERERBEHEE
Iﬁﬁxﬁ’glﬂﬁi%ﬁ’]ﬁﬂkﬁﬁ ARAE
RERmIBRZEERERERHTEES -

B # R

SECEPHEEEBE YEEBERL @
ROEERR SEZRVNEEREEHEINE
HI‘“°F%*IE%F/EQI\&,%FﬁﬁﬁTZ?I\EH
BeEmsETHIRRLBEEMERE
ﬁﬂéﬁﬂiﬂﬁ szTﬁF E@Zﬂ%fﬂ:f‘f%ﬁix
BEYBHEXGFE UKESR ZHEASF
RHZEEREN XS LA ﬁﬂTH R

TESRIANEAXIERERE Y8
RAERRAZZMNEREERR S8 Z
BRBEREFIEHESHIOTETEFERE
R °



MAJOR ACQUISITION, DISPOSALS AND
PROJECTS

The disposal of two investment properties in Japan which was entered
into agreement in February 2022 at consideration of HK$223.4 million,
was completed and the balance payment was received in April 2022.

In March, a piece of land lot in Jiaxing, the PRC was acquired through
land auction, which a deposit of HK$239.6 million was paid in March
2023.

The Group disposed of 49% interest in a parcel of land on Wireless Road
in Bangkok, Thailand at a consideration of HK$705.2 million in February
2023.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of 31 March 2023, certain bank loans of the Group were secured by
certain investment properties at a total carrying value of HK$434.0
million (2022: nil).

As of 31 March 2023, the loans to a joint venture by the Group including
interest payable amounting to approximately HK$1,506.3 million (2022:
HKS$854.5 million) were subordinated to banks to secure a banking
facility granted to the joint venture for financing the development in Tai
Po.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

The Group had financial guarantee contracts relating to a corporate
guarantee on the Group's proportionate share to the extent of HK$98.9
million (2022: HK$107.1 million) as at 31 March 2023 given to a bank in
respect of a banking facility granted to an investee company.

The Company provided a corporate guarantee in proportionate share to
banks for securing a banking facility granted to a joint venture to finance
the development in Tai Po. The bank loan balance in proportionate share
of 40% is HK$1,252.0 million (2022: HKS$1,616.1 million) as of 31 March
2023.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have other significant
financial guarantee contract as of 31 March 2023.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
v % G5

_E

pwc

To the Shareholders of HKR International Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

WHAT WE HAVE AUDITED

The consolidated financial statements of HKR International Limited (the

"Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages

106 to 239, comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2023;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

OUR OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair

view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March

2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated

cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

96

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2022/2023

BEREXBEREEERIARRK
(REAEHSTMALAEFRL A])

=R

BEMEETHRE

BERZBEREEERATAATHBEIER
ADEREMBARATHREIEEE])IEH
REFEI06EBIEMERE M BERE - B

MR2023F3 A3 HG AT MR EK

BEZRALFENKAESEH R
BEZALFENRERASRER K

RAMBHRERNE BREBETHRE
REMBEER -

EANER

BRMRE ZERAVERREBER LS
TR AGEMHCE BV RS EREEREM
FEMRET BEEM2023F3831HAE
EHBRRAEEREZB L FENGE TS
RBEGEReERE YEEREFB(RAAE
BB 4 55 45 & & B s o



BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENCE

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Valuation of investment properties held by the Group and its joint
venture

Recoverability of properties held for/under development for sale
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B BE RS

Key Audit Matter
AREITER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB NMNEEERENSE

Valuation of investment properties held by the Group and
its joint venture

BREBRACERAMFENREYENIEE

Refer to notes 4, 16 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2023, the investment properties held by the
Group were stated at fair value of HK$14,157.2 million with a
net realised and unrealised loss of HK$59.7 million recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The Group's joint
venture also has significant investment properties.

Independent external valuers were engaged to determine the
fair value of the investment properties held by the Group and
its joint venture.

EREGEEH BRI T4 16K20 -

R2023F3A31H EEBEFAENKREME H141572
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

We understood management’s controls and processes
for determining the valuation of investment properties
and assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
the judgements involved in determining the fair value;

We evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuers;

We obtained the valuation reports and met the
independent external valuers to discuss the valuation
methodologies and key assumptions;
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Key Audit Matter
ARETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNESNAEEERENSE

Valuation of investment properties held by the Group and
its joint venture (Continued)

BEEBRASERNAMFENREY XN 1EE (&)

Fair value of investment properties was generally derived by
using the income capitalisation approach and where
appropriate, the direct comparison approach. The income
capitalisation approach was based on the capitalisation of the
rental income and reversionary income potential by adopting
appropriate capitalisation rates and market rents. The direct
comparison approach assumed sale of property interest in its
existing state based on comparable market transactions, as
available in the relevant market.

We focus on this area because the fair values of investment
properties are subject to significant judgements and estimation
uncertainty.
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We involved our in-house valuation experts and
assessed the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies and the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the valuation of investment
properties, based on our knowledge of the property
industry, research evidence of capitalisation rates,
market rents and comparable market transactions for
similar properties, where applicable; and

We tested, on a sample basis, the data used in the
valuation of investment properties, including rental rates
from existing tenancies by agreeing them to the
underlying agreements with the tenants.

Based on the procedures performed, we found the
methodologies used in preparing the valuations were
appropriate and the key assumptions were supportable in light
of available evidence.
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Key Audit Matter
AREITER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB NMNEEERENSE

Recoverability of properties held for/under development
for sale

R EFRE/RE Y E R A

Refer to notes 4 and 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying values of the Group's
properties held for/under development for sale amounted to
HK$3,149.7 million and HK$6,067.8 million respectively.

Management assessed the recoverability of the carrying values
of properties held by the Group based on estimates of the net
realisable values of the underlying properties. These involved
the estimation of selling prices of the properties based on
current market prices of properties of comparable locations and
conditions, the construction costs to complete based on the
existing development plans and the costs necessary to make
the sales, where applicable.
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Our procedures in relation to the recoverability of properties
held for/under development for sale included:

We understood and evaluated management’s internal
controls and processes in determining the net realisable
values of the properties and assessed the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and the judgement involved in
determining the net realisable values;

We evaluated and tested the operating effectiveness of
relevant controls around the property development
cycle with particular focus on, but not limited to,
controls over cost budgeting for estimated costs to
completion, where applicable;
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Key Audit Matter
ARETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNESNAEEERENSE

Recoverability of properties held for/under development
for sale (Continued)

HRUEFRE/REF YR 7 KB (&)

If the estimated net realisable values of the underlying
properties were significantly different from their carrying values
as a result of changes of market conditions and/or significant
variation in the budgeted development costs, material write
down for the properties held for/under development for sale
may result.

We focus on this area because the existence of estimation
uncertainty warrants specific audit focus and attention.
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We evaluated management’s assessment on the
recoverability of the carrying values of the properties,
and assessed the reasonableness of key assumptions
and estimates in management’s assessment including:

(i) For the estimated selling prices, we compared, on a
sample basis, to the current market prices of properties
of comparable locations and conditions; and

(i) For the estimated costs to completion and costs
necessary to make the sales, we assessed the
reasonableness of the costs necessary to make the sales
and the latest budgets of total construction costs and
tested, on a sample basis, the construction costs to
committed contracts and other supporting information.

Based on the procedures performed, we found the key
assumptions in the recoverability assessment were supportable
in light of available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Ho Chiu Ping, Dennis.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
EORKESHMERAR
Certified Public Accountants

HEEEED

Hong Kong, 21 June 2023
B 202368218
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

GEEmR

Fortheyearended 31 March2023 #(ZE 20233 A31HILFE

2023 2022
Notes HK$'M HKS'M
Ff 5 BEBR BEBTT
N
Continuing operations FEREER
Revenue A 5 1,693.7 41679
Cost of sales 5 & K A (906.0) (2,675.9)
Gross profit SVl 787.7 1,492.0
Other income E A A 6 179.6 229.1
Other gains and losses H e K 18 7 249.3 (45.0)
Selling, administrative and other operating HE TTBREMEERS
expenses (656.1) (667.3)
Change in fair value and gains on disposals of WEMEAFEEHREE
investment properties 2 Was
Realised gains on disposals HERZEZFRKE 16,27 26.6 3846
Unrealised (losses)/gains REIE (B8 /W= 16 (86.3) 633
Finance costs B 1% & 8 (230.0) (123.3)
Share of results of associates DB E RN B EE (0.2) 0.2)
Share of results of joint ventures DEEEREEE 284.3 3434
Profit before taxation B B4 A v Al 9 554.9 1,676.6
Taxation fig 10 (76.7) (483.9)
Profit for the year from continuing operations RS & E B AR FE A 478.2 1,192.7
Discontinued operation ERIEREENK
Profit for the year from discontinued operation BRI E TSR EE A 12 - 26.8
Profit for the year NEE 478.2 12195
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the RAEHERE ANEBEREE
Company i A
From continuing operations REFEEEERK 455.6 1,069.8
From discontinued operation RE DKL EER 12 - 27.5
Profit for the year attributable to owners of RNAREBANEBEREE
the Company }‘E\L %lj 11 455.6 1,097.3
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to IR EEEERNFE
non-controlling interests w A/ (B HR)
From continuing operations KEFEREEK 22.6 1229
From discontinued operation REBEKIELE B 12 - 0.7)
Profit for the year attributable to non-controlling  JE % A% 4 25 Ji& {5 7K 4F & 335 7
interests 22.6 122.2
Earnings per share from continuing operations KEFBEREEBTRART 15
Basic (HK cents) AR GEAD 30.7 72.0
Diluted (HK cents) #se (B L) 30.7 720
Earnings per share from discontinued operation 7K 8 B2 #& |[F & & £ B EF X
& 15
Basic (HK cents) EARCGEM) - 1.9
Diluted (HK cents) B5w (B 4L) - 1.9
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

meBEmkEMZEKER

Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 #{Z=2023F3 A31 B ILFE

2023 2022
HK$'M HKS'M
BEAET BEAT
N
Profit for the year N £E [ 555 R 478.2 1,2195
Other comprehensive (expense)/income: Emem(FEx)/ W :
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss B TreEH B2 Em2HE
Investments in equity instruments measured at 1% A P {E 5t )\ H b 2w W=
fair value through other comprehensive FFEZRATAKSE :
income:
Fair value changes during the year FRANFEZH (19.2) (8.0)
Deferred tax arising from fair value changes NP EEBEE ZELERIE 0.1 =
(19.1) (8.0)
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit B sl @ EF B E 8w 2 B H
orloss
Exchange differences arising from foreign joint BINGERNRIEEZIER =5
ventures (639.3) 3100
Exchange differences arising from translation of 22 H fth 3B 4N 2 5 B 4= 7 [E i,
other foreign operations =% (404.5) 444
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal of a HEEING Z N A R R IE L
foreign joint venture ER 22.3 -
Release of exchange reserve upon deregistration #8538 SN i B & &) 5% 1 B R (6
of foreign subsidiaries b 5 & 28.1 0.3)
Share of asset revaluation reserve of a joint DIHEERRIZCEEEGHFEE
venture 2.2 =
(991.2) 354.1
Other comprehensive (expense)/income AFEEMEE(FAX) /W - 1k
for the year, net of tax I8 (1,010.3) 346.1
Total comprehensive (expense)/income AEE2EFAX)/WREE
for the year (532.1) 1,565.6
Total comprehensive (expense)/income THEEEE () /WA :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company RATHEAE A (554.7) 14434
Non-controlling interests FE 12 A e 2 22.6 1222
(532.1) 1,565.6
Total comprehensive (expense)/income attributable ZNA Bl A A fEh2mE (FAXX)/
to owners of the Company arises from: W BEER B
Continuing operations =R S (554.7) 4179
Discontinued operation BRI T - 253
(554.7) 14434

e
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e M BARRR

At31March2023 7202343 A31H

2023 2022
Notes HK$'M HKS'M
B 5 BEAT BEATT
N
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment properties HEYHE 16 14,157.2 14,303.1
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE MERE 17 2,648.1 2,741.8
Right-of-use assets TRAEEE 18 78.2 85.5
Interests in associates FR=NC Pl - 3y 19 - -
Interests in joint ventures ABEDNRZER 20 10,105.3 10,2222
Properties held for development for sale HHEEFERDE 24 3,149.7 45920
Equity instruments measured at fair value EATEGFAEMER
through other comprehensive income WHirE2RATA 2] 24.7 442
Financial assets at fair value through profitorloss & A F{Ezt AR 2
TREEE 21 462.1 528.0
Investments in debt instruments measured at REHEK ARG E 2B
amortised cost TEAKE 21 49.5 73.0
Other assets HEmEE 22 396.8 702.0
Deferred tax assets BT IHE E 33 109.4 57.6
31,181.0 33,3494
Current assets MEE E
Inventories FE 23 31.8 32.5
Properties held for sale BHIELEmE 2,337.5 877.8
Properties under development for sale HEEZERYE 24 6,067.8 4,596.8
Trade receivables FEW B SR 25 47.6 639
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables Be ENRIEREAM
FE YRR 26(a) 750.4 1,2524
Amounts due from associates JFE Wi Bt 2 X B FR0B 19, 26(b) 4.0 41
Amounts due from joint ventures U A & AR kI8 26(c) 192.1 205.3
Investments in debt instruments measured at REBHEKAFE 2 EH
amortised cost TEKRE 21 21.6 34.3
Taxation recoverable A] R B 7 18 56.0 85.8
Bank balances and cash IRITHEHBRIA S 26(a), 36() 6,212.6 2,717.7
15,721.4 9,870.6
Assets classified as held for sale DHEAEEREZEE 27 - 187.5
15,721.4 10,058.1
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2023 2022
Notes HK$'M HKS$'M
P &£ BEET BEBT

e

Current liabilities mENEE
Trade payables, provision and accrued charges  FEN 2 5 BE3 ~ B8 K
EstE R 28 1,169.3 1,081.3
Deposits received and other financial liabilities CWRE LEMERBE 1,363.1 159.9
Contract liabilities EHEaE 29 2,075.4 13838
Bank and other loans due within one year —FREEZRTREAM
B® 30 2,297.4 2,390.8
Lease liabilities HEEE 31 6.0 7.1
Taxation payable e T IE 291.0 3207
7,202.2 4,098.6
Net current assets mENEEFE 8,519.2 5,959.5
Total assets less current liabilities wEERABARE 39,700.2 39,3089
Non-current liabilities IEREBEE
Contract liabilities aHNaE 29 70.9 63.8
Bank and other loans due after one year — SR RIT R EAM
B3 30 9,281.7 8,264.6
Lease liabilities HEAaE 31 47.9 526
Other liabilities due after one year —FREPzEMERE 32 2,621.9 2,479.1
Deferred tax liabilities EEMIB ARG 33 406.9 502.5
12,429.3 11,362.6
27,270.9 27,946.3
Capital and reserves BARRFEE
Share capital [N 34 371.3 3713
Reserves et 24,026.6 24,655.6
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KANFER NEIRREZR 24,397.9 25,026.9
Non-controlling interests FE1E R 2 2,873.0 29194
27,270.9 27,946.3

e

The consolidated financial statements on pages 106 to 239 were SE106B E F20BFFH G MK HRExE R
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 June 20236 A21 B EE T €t £ RIFE T2 - I

2023 and are signed on its behalf by: ATIEEREKESE:
TANG Moon Wah NGAN Man Ying
Managing Director Executive Director
B w2 BAXH
EFAK HITEF
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERERER

Fortheyearended 31 March2023 #(ZE 20233 A31HILFE

2023 2022
Notes HK$'M HKS'M
Bt 5 BEEBT BEBT
N
Cash generated from/(used in) operations SEME/ (TR BES 36(a) 3,035.7 (4,668.7)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid BENEBREH (76.9) (194.3)
Overseas tax paid B8N IR (98.6) (386.8)
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities BBEBG/(FTA)BES
F R 2,860.2 (5,249.8)
Investing activities wEEE
Repayment of loan from a joint venture AEDNAIEEER 91.0 935
Cash distribution from a joint venture xEELRRZEE DK 17.5 60.0
Proceeds from disposal of a joint venture HEGE QR ZMERIE 704.6 =
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEYWE BMENMEREZ
equipment FTi5 518 2.6 140
Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBRAAZE KA
R 37 - 2834
Redemption of investments in debt instruments B Bl 3% 8k 85 Bk AR5t 2 2
measured at amortised cost BEHRLAKE 20.0 28.1
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair HEZAFEFAERZZ
value through profit or loss CREEZMFHIE 24.2 292
Interest received 2 W F B 26.4 227
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties  H &R E ¥ ¥ 7 15 1A 248.9 1,470.5
Loans to joint ventures ERTEEQTA (675.0) (66.5)
Additions of investment properties NEREME (25.5) (584.4)
Additions of property, plant and equipment REWE BWEREE (109.1) (188.6)
Additions of investments in debt instruments RERBHENAFEZ
measured at amortised cost BEILEKE - (31.6)
Additions of financial assets at fair value through R EIE A L EE ABZ 2
profit or loss SREE (2.5) (28.5)
Net cash from investing activities BEFRDFAEE TR 323.1 1,101.8
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2023 2022
Notes HK$'M HKS'M
B 3 BEAETL BEABTT
N
Financing activities BEES 36(b)
New bank and other loans raised IR rTREME R 6,432.8 8,770.0
Advance from a non-controlling shareholder JE 98 B& A% BR = 3R 78.0 1,572.0
Club debentures (redeemed)/issued (Bl /BEITEMES (14.0) 3.2
Repayment of bank and other loans EERITREMER (5,498.7) (5,734.6)
Interest paid =EEES (334.0) (120.7)
Dividends paid 2K % & (74.3) (1188)
Repayment of lease liabilities EBEHEEAE (9.3) (22.2)
Repayment of shareholder loan to RFEIER R R EZER R
a non-controlling shareholder B - (463.2)
Dividend paid to a non-controlling shareholder 2 4] 3F #%2 B% A% B8R £+ A% 2 (69.0) (124.1)
Net cash from financing activities BB R ER S FRE 511.5 3,7616
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BekIRE&EFEEEE Z
cash equivalents a0/ Gl ) %58 3,694.8 (386.4)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FYIzREeMREEEIER
of the year 2,717.7 3,060.9
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [EREH & (199.9) 432
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRZEERREEEEAR 36(c) 6,212.6 27177

e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

1T GENERAL INFORMATION

HKR International Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information
section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
development, management and provision of essential and recreational
services for residential housing and leisure projects in Discovery Bay,
Lantau Island, other property development, property investment and
hotel operations. The Group’s associates and joint ventures are
principally engaged in property development and property investment.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company.

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT ARE
MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE CURRENT
YEAR

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”") for
the first time in the current year:
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —

Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Annual Improvements Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018—

2020 Cycle

Accounting Guideline 5
(Revised)

Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combinations
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The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has
had no material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance and on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to

RAFEEEREER] B A B RS LR &
HEBZUBRRRRRARZEFLEETH
BRABRBEXNERTE -

© 18 5 {8 I8 AR &£ 2 2 3 /] RS FT
BERUBREER
£ B30 RI AT A A T E M E M R ERZ

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Hong Kong Interpretation 5

(2020)

Insurance Contracts

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Insurance Contracts

Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause

The Group anticipates that the application of above new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for mortgage instalment receivables,
investment properties and financial instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based
Payment”, leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
“Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset taken into account a
market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the
asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are transacted
at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the
valuation technique equals the transaction price.
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In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of
the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Group.
Control is achieved when the Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and

circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an
investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in
an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size
and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or
other parties;

rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting
patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until the date
when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group's
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from
the Group's equity therein, which represent present ownership interests
entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY NOT CONSTITUTING
A BUSINESS

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do not
constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the individual
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by allocating the
purchase price first to investment properties which are subsequently
measured under fair value model, and financial assets and financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining balance of the
purchase price is then allocated to the other identifiable assets and
liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase.
Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase
gain.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

Ajoint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint
control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting. The financial statements of associates and joint
ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net
assets of the associates and joint ventures other than profit or loss and
other comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When the
Group's share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the
Group's interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net
investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint
venture.
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The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or
joint venture that are not related to the Group.

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is
satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good and service (or a bundle of
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group's performance as the Group performs;

the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset with an

alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.
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Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”. In contrast, a
receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e.
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or
an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are
accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including
allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligations, the
Group allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service underlying
each performance obligation is determined at contract inception. It
represents the price at which the Group would sell a promised good or
service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not
directly observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate techniques
such that the transaction price ultimately allocated to any performance
obligation reflects the amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods
or services to the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
is measured based on output method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of direct measurements of the value of the goods or services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining goods or
services promised under the contract, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to consideration in an
amount that corresponds directly with the value of the Group’s
performance completed to date, the Group recognises revenue in the
amount to which the Group has the right to invoice.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
amount of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if the
timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides the
customer or the Group with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer. In those circumstances, the
contract contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the payment
terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of the
associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction price for any
significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the transfer of
the associated goods or services in which the Group adjusts for the
promised amount of consideration for a significant financing
component, the Group applies a discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. The relevant interest expenses during the period
between the advance payments were received and the transfer of the
associated goods and services are accounted for on the same basis as
other borrowing costs.
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Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the Group
incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not have
incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as an asset if it
expects to recover these costs. The asset so recognised is subsequently
amortised to profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with
the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the assets
relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all incremental
costs to obtain a contract if these costs would otherwise have been fully
amortised to profit or loss within one year.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative standalone price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of buildings and office equipment that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense
on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is
located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.

Except for those that are recognised as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of
investment property as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment property are presented within “investment
properties”.
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Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liabilities at the present value of lease payments that
are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and

any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.
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For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the
Group remeasures the lease liabilities based on the lease term of the
modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the
modified contract contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group as lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except for
investment properties measured under fair value model. Variable lease
payments for operating leases that depend on an index or a rate are
estimated and included in the total lease payments to be recognised on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income when they
arise.

Rental income which are derived from the Group'’s ordinary course of
business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components, the
Group applies HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customer” to
allocate consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease components.
Non-lease components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.
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FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise, except for exchange differences on
monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for
which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore
forming part of the net investment in a foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the Group's
interests in associates or joint ventures.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group'’s operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (ie. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a
financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation, attributable to owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements
that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint
control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. For properties under
development, the Group ceases to capitalise borrowing costs as soon as
the properties are ready for the Group's intended sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related asset is
ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general borrowing
pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit before taxation because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests
in joint ventures, except where the Group i